Public Document Pack

Children, Education and
Skills Sub Committee
Thursday, 1 July 2021
Thursday, 8 July 2021 0.01 Chamber - Quadrant, The Silverlink North, Cobalt Business
Park, North Tyneside, NE27 0BY commencing at 6.00 pm. (Due to Covid precautions
anyone wishing to attend should notify the contact officer and email
democraticsupport@northtyneside.gov.uk)
Agenda
Item
1.

Page

Apologies for absence
To receive apologies for absence from the meeting.

2.

Appointment of substitutes
To be informed of the appointment of any substitute members for
the meeting.

3.

To receive any declarations of interest
You are invited to declare any registerable and/or non-registerable
interests in matters appearing on the agenda, and the nature of that
interest.
You are also requested to complete the Declarations of Interests card
available at the meeting and return it to the Democratic Services Officer
before leaving the meeting.
You are also invited to disclose any dispensation from the requirement
to declare any registerable and/or non-registerable interests that have
been granted to you in respect of any matters appearing on the
agenda.

4.

Minutes

5 - 10

To confirm the minutes of the meeting held on 25 March 2021
5.

Understanding Health Inequalities
To update the Sub-Committee on the health of young people under 18

Members of the public are entitled to attend this meeting and receive information about it.
North Tyneside Council wants to make it easier for you to get hold of the information you need.
We are able to provide our documents in alternative formats including Braille, audiotape, large
print and alternative languages.

Agenda
Item

Page

in the borough

6.

Safeguarding Children and Young People in the Covid-19
Pandemic

11 - 76

To receive an update on Safeguarding Children and Young People in
the Covid-19 Pandemic
7.

Serious Case Review

77 - 80

To update the Committee on the learning from the Serious Case
Review
8.

School Clothing

81 - 88

To receive an update on School Clothing
9.

Work Programme for 2021/2022

89 - 92

To receive a proposed outline work programme for 2021/2022
Circulation overleaf …

Members of the Children, Education and Skills Sub Committee
Councillor Joanne Cassidy
Councillor Chris Johnston
Councillor Pam McIntyre
Councillor Andy Newman
Councillor Erin Parker-Leonard
Councillor Matthew Thirlaway (Chair)
Mr Stephen Fallon
Mrs Michelle Ord
Rev Michael Vine

Councillor Hannah Patricia Johnson (Deputy
Chair)
Councillor Maureen Madden
Councillor Jim Montague
Councillor Pat Oliver
Councillor Steven Phillips
Councillor Matt Wilson

This page is intentionally left blank

Agenda Item 4
These minutes are draft until confirmed at the next meeting of the sub-committee
Children, Education and Skills Sub-Committee
25 March 2021

Present:

Councillor M Thirlaway (Chair)
Councillor T Brady, J Cassidy, N Huscroft, M Madden, A
Newman, P Oliver, E Parker-Leonard, S Phillips and M
Wilson.
Mrs M Ord – Parent Governor Representative
Rev M Vine - Church Representative
Apologies: Councillor S Brockbank

CES35

Substitute Members

There were no substitute members
CES36

Declarations of Interest

There were no declarations of interest.

CES37

Minutes

Resolved that the minutes of the previous meeting held on 14 January 2021 be confirmed
and signed by the Chair.

CES38

Children and Young People’s Mental Health

The Sub-Committee received a report on the impact of Covid 19 on children and young
people’s mental health.
Prior to the outbreak of coronavirus, the Local Authority had experienced an increase in the
proportion of children and young people presenting with social, emotional, mental health
(SEMH) issues. Between 2017/18 and 2019/20 there was a 45% increase in the proportion
of Education, Health and Care Plans (EHCP) issued with SEMH as a primary need,
alongside an increase in the proportion of children and young people presenting with
emerging SEMH needs.
The government were committed to significantly expand mental health support for children
and young people, recognising that young people had been uniquely impacted by the
pandemic.
NHS research suggested that 1 in 6 young people might now have a mental health problem,
up from 1 in 9 in 2017. It was anticipated that the number of mental health support teams in

Page 5

Children, Education and Skills Sub-committee

schools and colleges would grow from 59 to 400 by April 2023, supporting nearly 3 million
children. The ambition was that mental health support teams would work in a variety of
ways, including enabling children to text their local mental health support team, with a health
professional responding within an hour during the school day offering them advice, or
providing families with tips on how to spot that the children and young people were
struggling with their mental health.
During the pandemic, Local Authority officers and school leaders had maintained a focus on
monitoring pupils’ mental health and wellbeing and recognised that many families had
experienced raised levels of anxiety and to try to capture some emerging issues they
completed a staff survey in February 2021. The outcomes were a snapshot of the views of
staff in schools at that point and responses were received from 60% of schools. From this
sample, 77% of responses were from Primary and First Schools and this was before the
wider re-opening of schools on 8 March 2021 so more issues might arise as pupils returned
to school.
From the survey findings, 96% of schools felt Covid19 had a detrimental impact on the
mental health of children and young people. It was also felt that children and young people
were resilient and would overcome the issues they were experiencing with the right nurturing
and support.
Anxiety, loneliness, relationship issues and poor sleep ranked the highest in terms of
negative impact. Free text responses suggested that the first national lockdown and period
of school closure had less of a negative impact than ongoing periods of isolation due to
positive cases, contact tracing and then self isolation.
Young people had spent long periods of time on computers and devices and missed social
interaction with peers at lunch and break times. Other issues identified were lack of
motivation, lack of resilience, more extreme behaviour and frustration and not being allowed
to socialise beyond the bubble.
In terms of the strong link between physical and mental health, restrictions placed upon
schools and clubs to prevent the spread of the infection had meant that children and young
people had no access to community clubs and sports facilities, no after school clubs and
activity groups, no access to competition, limitations on team sports and physical education
activities in school.
Of the 114 Fair Access Referrals from September 2020 to the end of January 2021, 85
students had been identified as having mental health which had deteriorated since lockdown
2020 or identified as their mental health being the same, 29 students did not have a Covid
mental health question completed and there were no students with improved mental health.
This equated to just over half of students considered as part of Fair Access protocols, having
experienced a decline in their mental health.
For some children in care, Covid had a negative impact on family time and contact sessions
with some reporting a breakdown in relationships with siblings.
A number of young people who still accessed school during lockdown found it beneficial and
some were more relaxed with foster carers having spent more time at home.
Sone children with special educational needs had experienced anxiety over transport and
getting to school and some were physically upset due to lack of access and felt bored and
lonely not being able to contact friends.
Some positive impacts included increased awareness and discussion about mental health

Page 6
23 January 2020

Children, Education and Skills Sub-Committee

and wellbeing. Increased family time had benefits on behaviour, greater time to focus on
vulnerable pupils, strengthened relationships between home and school and some less
confident pupils had responded well to online learning.
At the start of the academic year, Local Authority officers, working alongside staff from
Moorgate, established a Covid recovery programme for a cohort of Year 11 pupils all
displaying mental health issues and with poor school attendance in the previous academic
year. Of the original 33 students identified, 31 remained on the programme and were in
receipt of mental health support.
Wellbeing for Education Return was a national initiative funded by the Department of
Education and Department of Health and Social Care to provide tools to enable schools staff
to protect and strengthen the whole school’s resilience to wellbeing and mental health
impacts of COVID 19. All schools in North Tyneside had accessed training for delivery of
these materials and there had been positive feedback on the content with 97% of delegates
feeling that they could cope with mental health in schools.
In addition, Local Authority officers began the first phase of a pilot project to achieve an
ambition to train all staff and pupils from North Tyneside schools in mental health
awareness, with two staff trained as mental health first aiders from each school. The
intention behind this universal offer, was to ensure there was a shared language and
understanding of the impact of poor mental ill-health. Thus, enabling all staff to provide
appropriate responses to all pupils at the point of need. This was intended to underpin more
specialist support from ‘Thrive’ practitioners. There remained ongoing access to: ‘Kooth’, an
online counselling support for young people with mental health issues and the Educational
Psychology team who were involved in the project and would manage the critical incidents.
The ambition was to roll out to train pupils in mental health awareness so children with
mental health pressures would be better able to articulate and share with peers their
concerns and receive a strong network of support.
The Mental Health First Aid Project would offer more time for teaching about mental and
physical health and well being and more support for parents and more staff would also be
involved in mental health advice, guidance and signposting.
The mental health advocates from each school were also part of an online forum which met
on a regular basis to share resolutions and discuss best practice.
Members considered if the impact on children’s mental health would be long term and it was
noted that the vast majority of children with nurturing and care would bounce back and be
resilient but young people would continue to experience self isolation due to positive Covid
cases for some time to come and mental health support measures would continue to be
offered.
The Chair thanked the Assistant Director of Education for the informative report and for
attendance at the meeting.

CES39

Post 16 Education and Skills

The Sub-Committee received an update on participation and the options available in post 16
education, employment and training in North Tyneside and the changes that had occurred
during 2020-21 due to the Covid-19 pandemic.

Page 7
21 November 2019

Children, Education and Skills Sub-committee

It was a requirement of the September Guarantee that a suitable offer of education or
training was made to all young people aged 16-17 years. In 2020, the impact of Covid-19
meant that this guarantee became even more important with a focus of the Authority’s
Connexion Service being to work with schools to ensure that over 2000 young people due to
leave school in July 2020 had an early recorded ‘intended destination’ with ‘offers of
learning’ being secured as quickly as possible.
A key focus for the team was those wanting to progress to Apprenticeships and employment
with training; expected to be impacted by the pandemic, as well as vulnerable young people
including those at risk of being Not in Education, Employment or Training (NEET), Care
Leavers and young people with Special Educational Needs and Disabilities (SEND).
The Local Authority continued to track the participation and destinations of all young people
aged 16-17 to ensure that they continued to receive appropriate provision of education and
training.
In January 2021 in North Tyneside, 94.2% of young people were in Education, Employment
or Training (EET), 2.8% were Not in Education, Employment or Training (NEET), for 1.4%
destination was unknown, 84.6% were in Full Time Education, 6.8% in Apprenticeships and
2.4% in Work Based Learning.
North Tyneside compared favourably with other North East Local Authority areas and the
national average when comparing participation in EET and NEET Rates. In addition,
participation in Apprenticeships amongst 16 and 17 year olds, despite a small decline this
year, was significantly higher than the national and regional average despite apprenticeship
starts falling in North Tyneside since the introduction of Apprenticeship Reforms in 2017 and
2018.
In terms of the destinations, the majority of young people leaving at Year 11 continued into
school sixth forms or attended further education colleges.
The Local Authority were currently engaging with 31 school pupils with bespoke pathway
vocational and skills support who might fall into the NEET category.
The Government had introduced a number of measures to boost job creation including the
Kickstart Scheme, Skills for Jobs Plan and flexible Lifetime Skills Guarantee.
The Kickstart Scheme was a £2 billion fund to create 6-month work placements aimed at
those aged 16-24 who were on universal credit and were deemed to be at risk of long-term
unemployment. Funding available for each job would cover 100% of the relevant National
Minimum Wage for 25 hours a week, plus the associated employer National Insurance
contributions and employer minimum automatic enrolment contributions.
The 2019-20 and 2020-21 academic years had been severely impacted by the Covid-19
pandemic with regular changes in restrictions and guidance meaning that all providers had
to adapt their offer to provide a mix of classroom and remote learning and to introduce new
health and safety measures including Covid Secure classrooms and buildings and the
establishment of Lateral Flow Testing for learners and staff. Providers had responded
positively maintaining a broad range of provision for young people and had worked in
partnership to ensure the young people of North Tyneside maintained their learning.
Thirteen schools offered post 16 provision in North Tyneside including 6 maintained schools,
3 academies and four special schools. In the main sixth forms offered A and AS level

Page 8
23 January 2020

Children, Education and Skills Sub-Committee

qualifications, alongside a smaller number of BTEC vocational qualifications in areas such
as health and social care.
A significant number of Year 11 leavers in North Tyneside went on to study in a Further
Education college. In the main students’ progressed to Tyne Coast College or Newcastle
College.
Tyne Coast College offered a diverse curriculum for 16-18’s and adult learners which
included vocational education, apprenticeships and A Levels.
The College’s vocational education provision offered learners more practical skills,
knowledge and experience with a curriculum developed in a variety of sub brands including
the North East Sports Academy, TMC Construction Centre and the Ignite Centre for
Engineering and Innovation which delivered a comprehensive range of training solutions in
engineering and science, technology and maths disciplines to increase local skills for the
manufacturing sectors operating across the north east.
Newcastle College’s Energy Academy had entered into a Strategic Partnership with the Port
of Blyth which was additional, and complementary, to the established education and training
provision at the Energy Academy in Wallsend, in effect creating two educational portals into
the Energy Sector, one in Wallsend, and one in Blyth.
The medium to long term impact of the Covid pandemic on young people and providers was
not yet known, but expected to be considerable and policy makers and education providers
would need to adapt their responses to respond to these opportunities and challenges
accordingly.
The amount of 16-18 funding available from the Education and Skills Funding Agency
(ESFA) continued to represent a challenge for providers, both in terms of the amount of
funding per learner and the system for obtaining additional funding (lagged learners) to
expand and deliver new programmes. As the numbers of apprenticeship and employment
opportunities were limited due to Covid-19 this funding pressure was only expected to
increase.
Despite the success in North Tyneside in mitigating some impacts, the downturn in
apprenticeship starts, particularly for 16-18 year olds had been significant since the
introduction of the Apprenticeship reforms, and the impact of Covid-19 was expected to see
a further decline in Apprenticeship starts in 2020-21. Apprenticeships were at risk of not
being seen as a viable alternative for school leavers, and as the number of starts continued
to diminish, more needed to be done to ensure this option post 16 remained viable.
The reduction in approved apprenticeship standards at level 2 was also impacting now on
post 16 apprenticeship starts and would further impact moving forward. The dismissal by the
Institute for Apprenticeships and Technical Education of any further submissions by the
trailblazer group for a business and administration level 2 apprenticeship standard, further
removed what had been the realistic starting point for many young people on a journey into
higher level learning and better paid employment. More than 160 “duplicate qualifications” at
level 3 and below had their funding removed from August 2020 – including 76 BTECs. It was
part of an aim to remove “poor quality post-16 qualifications” and followed consultation to
decide the future of over 12,000 vocational qualifications at level 3 and below. The
government’s aim was to make A-levels, T-levels and apprenticeships the “gold standard”
option for young people after they had taken their GCSE’s from 2020.

Page 9
21 November 2019

Children, Education and Skills Sub-committee

These changes had raised some concerns amongst providers regarding a reduction in
choice for learners and removing viable routes for more vulnerable and disadvantaged
learners. There were also concerns that many providers were not ready to deliver T-Levels
from August 2020 and that due to Covid-19 the availability of work placements had become
even more challenging.
It was acknowledged that information on employers’ provision of training in the new Kickstart
scheme was thin on detail and Members noted that the Council would continue to work with
the Combined Authority to encourage apprenticeship routes and to provide purposeful work
placements.
The Chair thanked the Assistant Director of Education and Officers for the informative report
and for attendance at the meeting.

Page 10
23 January 2020

Agenda Item 6
Meeting:

Children, Education and Skills Sub-committee

Date:

8th July 2021

Title:

Safeguarding Children and Young People in the
Covid-19 Pandemic - Update

Author:

Julie Firth, Assistant Director
Safeguarding & Children’s
Services

Service:

Children, Young People &
Learning

Wards affected:

All

1.

Tel. 643 1454

Purpose:
To provide to the Children, Education and Skills Sub-committee an update to the overview
report presented in September 2020, of the response of North Tyneside Council Children’s
Services Early Help and Social Care services to the need to work differently during the
Covid-19 pandemic. Focusing on maintaining the highest standards of safeguarding practice
and support to children and families.

2.

Recommendation(s):
It is recommended that the Sub-committee:
a) Note the information provided;
b) Request further information if appropriate;
c) Make such recommendations as the Sub-committee consider appropriate.

3.

Information
Background
Throughout the pandemic Early Help and Social Care services have maintained a businessas-usual-but-different approach to delivering services to support, care and protect vulnerable
children and families. Since September services have largely returned to normal but
underpinned by risk assessments to keep children, families and staff safe and prevent
transmission of Covid. The staff group have worked with incredible commitment and
dedication and have maintained o the whole, high standards of practice and performance.
The following are individual area updates:

Page 11

Briefing note



Children’s Homes

Our Children’s Homes have continued to offer warmth, care and support to children in our
care. They have had to contend with using PPE and additional restrictions whilst at the same
time supporting children and young people experiencing the pandemic. The teams have
been able to cover the gaps where staff members were unable to continue in their role due
to shielding or specific vulnerabilities, with other staff from across the service identified to
assist.
Given the additional health complexities we had to reduce our residential short break service
so that we could keep children safe. Instead of offering short breaks to 5 children a night we
were only able to offer the service to 2 children a night and then on a risk assessed basis
around need and complexity. However, by April 2021 we were back to making an offer of
overnight short breaks to all children accessing the services. The service has been valued
highly by families especially as some of the children were not in school.


Care Leavers

We recognised the additional vulnerabilities of our Care Leaver, particularly around isolation
and so support was increased over the last year. This was not only in terms of visits and
contact but also practical support such as food, toiletries, and activities. Our Care Leavers
have been disproportionately impacted in terms of employment. Many of our care
experienced young people found employment in the retail and services sectors, often this
was casual in nature and as such their employment ended without protection. We have a lot
of work to do to try and address the NEET rate in our care experienced population and we
are working with colleagues in adult learning to finalise plans.
During the last 12 months we have worked with the national advocacy service, Coram Voice
to complete the New Belongings survey. Despite being completed during lockdown we had
a good response rate and the results outlined 10 ‘Bright Spots’ of practice (good practice)
and a number of areas for us to focus on:  Having a good friend
 Having a trusted person
 Coping financially
 Experience anxiety
 Happy with appearance
Young people have worked with us to develop an action plan and delivery of the action plan
has been adopted as on of the priorities for the Corporate Parenting Forum.


Fostering

It has been a challenging time for our fostering community, but they have been amazing in
their support to children in their care. As we reported in September 2020, it remains the case
that no Foster Carers have decided to end their care of children as a result of the pandemic.
They have continued to offer placements to children even when at times of crisis, there may
have been worries about infection risks. These evidences the absolute commitment of our
carers to our children in care. We have very sadly lost two, valued Foster Carers to Covid
and this has caused great sadness across the community.

Page 12

Briefing note

We have just celebrated Fostering Fortnight and have thanked all our carers for their
incredible work with a card and handmade candle.
The Fostering Team have provided high levels of support to both our mainstream carers and
our connected carers. The recent Fostering Survey had the following headlines:  84% are satisfied or fairly satisfied with the service
 80% Good or very good training provision
 79% reported that the supervising social worker was helpful or very
helpful to carers in their role


Multi-Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH)

In April the Multi-Agency Safeguarding Hub (MASH) returned to the office on a rota basis.
The MASH is critical to decision making for children and young people within the Borough
and while the service has worked well remotely, it is recognised that the quality of the
discussion, information sharing and decision making across the partners is enhanced by
face to face working. The staff are to be commended for their resilience and tenacity in
managing this critical function throughout the course of the pandemic.
At the end of March 2021, we have seen an increase in referrals when compared to 19/20.
The rate of referrals per 10,000 at the end of 20/21 is 404.3, higher than the March 2020
figure of 378.7. The England rate for 19/20 was 534, and our Statistical Neighbours, 603.
There has been further increases since March with April and May being significantly higher
than previous monthly averages.


Social Work and Early Help

Given the nature of the work direct face-to-face work with children, young people, parents
and carers is core to Social Work and Early Help practice in North Tyneside. As reported in
September 2020, the pandemic has, by necessity, required new ways of working.
Practitioners responded quickly to the changing environment and have been incredibly
creative and innovative when restrictions have been in place. While we are now in the main
offering a face to face service, we have taken the learning from the early days of the
pandemic and we are using a blended approach with virtual contact and virtual meetings
supporting our face to face work. We have found that younger children do not always
engage well in a virtual environment whereas older children and adolescents have overall,
appreciated the blended approach.
In looking at the performance data for 2020/21compared to the previous year, we have seen
the following:  A 24.2% increase in early help plans.
 An increase of almost 200 children being supported by the statutory social work teams.
 An increase of 24.7% in children on child protection plans.
 Stability in our children in care numbers.
 At the end of March 2021, 98.2% of children who were subject to a child protection plan
had been visited within timescales. (167out of 170children).
 90% of Children in Care reviews held within timescales.

Page 13

Briefing note



Nursery
The Ready for School nursery at the Riverside Centre has been operational throughout the
pandemic providing childcare for vulnerable children and the children of key workers
throughout the pandemic. Staff have continued to work with changing and developing
national guidance to ensure safe best practice with young children. They have offered
outreach services to families and have developed a range of online support sessions for
parents to access. Sadly, in June we have experienced and outbreak of Covid and for the
first time since the pandemic started, we have had to close the nursery to allow for selfisolation and deep cleaning. Staff have immediately moved to a virtual outreach support
offer so that families are all receiving support.



Family Time

The safe and appropriate deliver of family time has been a particular challenge. Children in
Care have a legal right, save in exceptional circumstances, to family time with their parents
and siblings. Family time inevitably means bringing multiple households. We have
maintained a face-to-face family time offer, subject to robust risk assessments, where
possible. Since April we have been able to facilitate face to face family time for all the children
that require it but at a reduced level given the regulations and expectations around cleaning
between sessions. Where possible, and weather permitting family time has moved to an
outdoors venue but clearly, we have indoor arrangements and had to source more venues
so that the full offer could be delivered. We have maintained a blended offer of face to face
and virtual family time and will continue to offer this even post pandemic as the mixed
approach has brough benefits.


Youth Justice Service
The Youth Justice Service has continued to deliver services to young people and families
throughout the pandemic again both face to face and virtual. In April we received notification
that we would be inspected by Her Majesties Inspectorate of Probation (HMIP). This was
a virtual, weeklong inspection that commenced on the 26th March. Of interest was the fact
that this was the first HMIP inspection of a Youth Offending service where the entire
inspection cohort was under Covid restrictions and as such we have some external
assurance of our practice during the pandemic. The report is due for publication week
commencing the 26th July.

The use of the Adoption and Children (Coronavirus) (Amendment) Regulations 2020
The Adoption and Children (Coronavirus) (Amendment) Regulations 2020 provided legal
flexibility for the Council to diverge from some of its statutory responsibilities during the
pandemic. These were subject to review and consultation in February 2021. In response to
the consultation, the DfE decided to continue only with the proposals to extend the
existing flexibilities on medical reports, virtual visits and Ofsted inspection cycles. The
current flexibilities expire on 30 September 2021.
In North Tyneside Council has only used the flexibilities made available by the Regulations
where it has been deemed necessary and in the best interests of children and young people.
This has been extremely limited. For example, the Adoption and Children (Coronavirus)
(Amendment) Regulations 2020 allow applicant foster carers to self-report medical
information without the need for information to be provided by their General Practitioner. This
flexibility has been used by North Tyneside
PageCouncil
14 to ensure the timely consideration by

Briefing note

Panel and the Agency Decision Maker of Foster Carer applications that would have
otherwise been subject to significant delay. Likewise, the regulations provide flexibility for
Social Worker visits to children in care, both in terms of the statutorily prescribed timescales
and allowing for visiting to be virtual - conducted by telephone, video-link or other electronic
means. We are not using the flexibilities at the current time and in all but exception
circumstances we have not used the flexibilities since September 2020.
Learning from the Covid-19 Pandemic
North Tyneside Children’s Services are a Partner in Practice with the DfE. Through this
arrangement we were approached to do some further study and analysis around lessons
learnt from working during the pandemic, that could be shared and used across the sector.
In partnership with Professor Eileen Munro, Professor Andrew Turnell and Marie Devine, we
worked with three other local authorities to explore: What helps and hinders practitioners build safety through naturally connected
networks during a pandemic when professional contact is limited?

Under the conditions of COVID-19, direct professional involvement with families and
children in statutory social care services has been significantly reduced. This led to local
authorities having to think about how they can work with, and support, children, young
people and their families in different ways. The identification and involvement of the naturally
connected network is something we had been embedding prior to Covid but it became very
clear during the pandemic that this was a key feature of how we could build safety.
Practitioner embraced this and became incredibly innovative in their approached to working
with networks.
The study is small in size and consequently the findings are tentative but do support the
hypothesis that the use of networks makes a worthwhile contribution to improving children’s
safety and wellbeing. Alongside the study we have published an Executive summary from
a local authority perspective around our learning. The report has been published and there
are a series of events and tools that we will produce to share across the sector to
disseminate the learning.

Next Steps

The pandemic has understandably brought with it an increase in demand for our services
and an increase in the complexity of issues. This is putting pressure on the service and in
particular on the staff teams. We are increasing our resources to try and met this demand,
but the recruitment market is challenging at this time.
To support staff we have introduced weekly communication, regular sessions with the
Assistant Director and a range of workshops on trauma, resilience and self-care. These
have all been welcomed and appreciated by the teams. Across the service they continue
to feedback that they have good access to support and supervision and that managers are
visible and accessible.
We are beginning to look at getting teams back into the office albeit on a rota basis and
this has been very warmly welcomed Page
across the
board. From Monday 28th June, the Safe
15
& Supported social work teams will return to the office. We recognise that learning,

Briefing note

especially for newly qualified staff has been impacted by not being alongside their more
experienced colleagues, and this has been a key driver for returning to some office
working. Other teams will follow dependant of available office space, given social
distancing has impacted on available desks.
Our Children’s Centres will also open in time for the summer holidays so that we can look
to deliver a range of activities to support children and families during the summer break.
While we are still experiencing the challenges of working in a pandemic, we have largely
returned to our full-service offer. This is testament to the commitment and dedication of
staff across the service who have worked tirelessly to support, care and protect children
and families across the borough and are to be commended for this.

Page 16

COVID-19 Response
What helps and what hinders in building safety for
children using naturally connected networks
Eileen Munro and Andrew Turnell
with Marie Devine

Page 17

COVID-19 Response
What helps and what hinders in building safety for
children using naturally connected networks
Eileen Munro and Andrew Turnell
with Marie Devine

Published by Elia International Ltd
COM 1/153 Kensington Street
East Perth WA 6004
Australia
www.elia.ngo
Signs of Safety® is a registered trademark

Page 18

Acknowledgements
We would like to acknowledge the valuable help given to us by the project steering group at
North Tyneside Council — Julie Firth, Mark Jupp, Kirsty Parsons and Anna McAlpine — in both
conducting the study and contributing to the final report.
We would also like to thank all the staff from the four local authorities who gave up their time to
take part in the focus groups and interviews and gave us their rich narratives that have formed
the basis of the study.

Page 19

Table of Contents
Acknowledgements....................................................................... 3
Executive Summary ....................................................................... 1
1. Introduction .............................................................................. 3
2. Research methods ..................................................................... 5
3. Direct work with families and networks ....................................... 7
4. Organisational support for front line work ................................... 17
5. Partner agencies ...................................................................... 25
6. Anxiety about using networks to provide safety ............................ 28
7. Performance data ...................................................................... 33
8. Conclusion ............................................................................... 36
References ................................................................................... 40
Appendix A: Involving Naturally Occurring Safety Networks in Child
Protection casework ..................................................................... 41
Appendix B: North Tyneside Risk assessment for home visits ............. 45

Page 20

EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

Executive Summary
During the COVID-19 pandemic, the restrictions imposed to limit the spread of the virus aimed
to reduce contact between people with the result that children are less visible to others. Identifying and protecting children from maltreatment becomes more difficult while there is evidence
that the increased stresses on parents and carers are also leading to an increased incidence
of harm to children. In this context, the naturally connected networks around children — such
as extended family members, neighbours and other community members — are a potentially
valuable resource for building safety by supporting parents and children and noticing if a child
is being harmed.
This research was funded by the Department for Education Partners in Practice COVID-19 programme which aimed to:
• capture the lessons from the response to the first phase of the pandemic in order to inform planning for the next phase of lockdown easements and future waves; and
• where there is promising evidence of innovative and/or novel approaches developed in
response to the pandemic, these should be retained, particularly where the preferences
of the children and families worked with are better met and new capacity is released into
the system.
Four Children’s Social Care Departments who were using the Signs of Safety practice framework were studied, examining how they were able to draw on those networks to enhance
the safety and well-being of children despite lockdown restrictions, with the main research
question being:
How can practitioners use the network around a child — such as extended family members,
neighbours and other community members — to assist in building safety when professional
support becomes more restricted during a pandemic?
The research used a range of methods: focus groups and interviews of people at front line,
middle and senior management levels plus analysis of performance data. It had been intended
to learn from parents and network members as well but there were insufficient responses to
the survey to be useable. Ethics approval was obtained from the London School of Economics.
When lockdown began on March 23rd 2020, life for everyone changed dramatically. The four
local authorities were quick to provide the technology and equipment to enable working from
home and holding meetings online. Personal protective equipment was not immediately available but was soon also provided. Home visits continued after a risk assessment, weighing up
the value of the visit versus the potential for spreading the virus. Most contact with families,
networks and other professionals has, however, taken place online.
In two of the local authorities the use of networks was already embedded in the social work
child in need and child protection teams. In the other two, their use had been informal and limited but senior managers decided later in 2020 that training and support for using them was a
priority because of their perceived value during a pandemic.
The research found a wealth of evidence that social workers were using networks in very creative ways, adapting to the restrictions of lockdown. Family and network members, too, were
very imaginative in finding ways to support and monitor the family. Virtual contact, using social

Page 21

1

COVID-19 RESPONSE
media, was the primary mechanism but once the Government permitted ‘bubbles’ to be formed
between two households in certain circumstances, these were a valuable way of directly seeing
and talking to the children and adults. The potential pool of network members was increased
by realising that online contact could be valuable, revising the previous assumption that they
needed to be in direct contact with a family.
The scale of adaptation and innovation was helped by strong managerial support, with senior
managers keeping up strong communication links with all staff, making themselves more available for case consultation, and sharing the responsibility for difficult decisions. This was all
the more important in that restrictions limited how much practitioners could directly check on
the safety and well-being of a child. For practitioners to whom networks were new, there was
often a degree of anxiety about using them instead of the familiar set of professional services.
Casework support provided by ‘practice leads’ or ‘champions’ was highly valued in developing
people’s skill and confidence in using networks. The informal casework and emotional support
provided by teams was also highly valued and strategies used to maintain it despite being unable to meet in person.
It was impressive that senior managers were not just trying to maintain standards but to implement planned improvements during this period.
Working with partner agencies functioned in varying ways since some were only having online
contact with families. Teachers and health visitors were making visits and were frequently
cited as being valuable partners who were working co-operatively with them to keep children
safe. In the two local authorities which had not used networks much before the pandemic,
there was some concern from other professionals about how well they could help in keeping
children safe.
The findings overall show how networks were valuable in linking with families and children in a
wide variety of ways and were seen as valuable to social workers who saw them both as helping
the parents but also providing them with a better picture of family life as a result.
The performance data available was consistent with the hypothesis that using networks reduces child protection plans and removal of children, but longer-term data is needed and also
the national and regional data so that comparison can be made with other places during this
turbulent period.
One final point is that all who were interviewed showed commitment to maintaining a high
standard of practice despite the pandemic restrictions but often this came at some cost to their
own well-being.

2

Page 22

INTRODUCTION
1. Introduction
During the COVID-19 pandemic, the restrictions imposed to limit the spread of the virus aimed
to reduce contact between people. As a result, families are more isolated, professional support
services are reduced and children are less visible to others. Protecting children from maltreatment becomes more difficult while there is evidence that the increased stresses on parents and
carers are leading to an increased incidence of harm to children. In this context, the naturally
connected networks around children — such as extended family members, neighbours and
other community members — are a potentially valuable resource for building safety by supporting parents and noticing if a child is being harmed.
This research aims to study how practitioners can use those networks to enhance the safety and
well-being of children despite lockdown restrictions, with the main research question being:
How can practitioners use the network around a child — such as extended family members,
neighbours and other community members — to assist in building safety when professional
support becomes more restricted during a pandemic?
Working with the network is a standard part of the Signs of Safety practice approach, using
their concern for the children as a major resource in keeping the children in their family and
community. The aim is to create an effective everyday safety plan, even when there are problems and danger present, detailing who will do what to ensure the child is safe and well looked
after because these are the people who are around the child on a daily basis and are most committed to them (see Appendix A for a more detailed account).
Children’s Social Care departments in England who are using the Signs of Safety approach
provide a means of studying how networks can be supported to help safeguard children during the pandemic. Despite restrictions, many of the network will still be in touch in some way
with the families of concern and so able to provide some support. The issues that this study
explores are:
1.

The extent to which the focus on using network support is particularly beneficial in reducing harm during a pandemic where professional involvement is more limited

2. What organisational support is required to make this successful?
Since social restrictions are likely to continue to some degree for some months, the findings will
be of use in increasing our understanding of how best to support networks. The findings will
also have broader relevance because strengthening families’ naturally connected networks fits
well with the national policy emphasis on working in partnership and seeking to empower families, and methods and skills used in the pandemic may well have relevance in the longer term.
Using networks is not specific to Signs of Safety, so the findings will also be significant to other widely used practice approaches, such as Strengthening Families, Restorative Justice, and
Family Group Conferences that also draw upon them.

Context
The COVID-19 pandemic has had a major impact on families and on the personal and work lives
of the professionals with whom they are in contact. Governments’ efforts to reduce the spread
of the virus focus on reducing contact between people. Social distancing and self-isolation

Page 23

3

COVID-19 RESPONSE
measures, however, reduce the visibility of children and increase stress on families. The major
stresses reported on families are: physical and mental health problems, economic stress due
to reduced income, the challenges of home-schooling children, intensified marital relationships contributing to conflict and violence, and the intensified relationship between parents
and children.
There is growing evidence that these stresses are leading to increased rates of maltreatment.
Between April and September 2020 Ofsted received 285 serious incident notifications, a 27%
increase on the same period in 2019. Of these notifications, 119 related to child deaths, an
increase from 89 in 2019. Sidpra et al (2020) report a steep increase in children brought to
Great Ormond St with abusive head injuries in the first 4 weeks of lockdown, rising from one
case in 2018 and 2019 to 10 cases in 2020. Childline (NSPCC 2020) reports a sharp rise in calls
from children, with concerns arising from the pandemic. The main problems are: mental health
problems especially depression, anxiety and panic; reduced psychological support for those
previously receiving help; family relationships, e.g. being together all the time causes tensions,
witnessing arguments, being unable to see relatives who usually provide emotional support;
completing schoolwork at home, and online bullying.
The impact on children’s social care services, generally, has been an increasing volatility in levels of need, demand and complexity, experienced through:
• A sharp reduction in initial contacts and referrals to social care;
• An escalation of harm and risk of harm and an increase in the rate of children in care;
• Significant concerns regarding a subsequent increase in initial contacts and referrals,
when schools returned, and professionals had contact with children and young people
which had previously been limited.

Outline
During the pandemic social workers have had to alter their ways of supporting families and protecting children, with direct contact being reduced or modified as all concerned try to prevent
spreading the virus. The radical change to the context of the work brought about by COVID-19
has prompted creative thinking and new ways of working. This report describes some of these
new ways of working, particularly those connected to the use of networks to better enable
children’s services practitioners and organisations to identify the creative efforts made and to
identify those most worth continuing after the pandemic.
This study has collected data on the complex interactions between families and Children’s Social Care Departments. Presenting this data in a linear account, as is inevitable in a written
report, loses some of the dynamic dimension of the practice and organisational relationships.
We have compensated for this by highlighting the causal links between the layers of the organisational and family systems, reporting on how actions in one part of the system have been
experienced by others.
Chapter Two describes the research methods and then Chapter Three looks at how practitioners have adapted and sought to continue keeping children safe, with particular focus on
using the networks as part of creating safety. How social workers were able to safeguard children during the pandemic is strongly shaped by the support (or obstacles) they experienced
within their organisations. This report therefore, considers what was happening in other layers of the organisation to help or hinder good practice in using networks, exploring the prac-

4

Page 24

RESEARCH METHODS
tical help provided to enable direct work to continue despite COVID-19 restrictions, support
for continuing skills development, for reasoning about complex family problems, and for
handling the emotional dimensions of the work and the pandemic. Safeguarding children is
a multi-agency concern so we also report on how the contributions of partner agencies were
altered by the pandemic.
Managing uncertainty is a core dimension of child protection work. The Signs of Safety approach
asks practitioners to engage naturally connected networks in building safety which challenges the more usual approach of prioritising professional involvement. This inevitably raises the
question for practitioners of how much can they trust the network. Chapter Six explores the
anxiety involved in using networks to provide safety. The penultimate chapter analyses the performance data of relevance. The final chapter summarises and discusses the findings.

2. Research methods
The main research question focuses on the practitioners’ work with families and their networks.
The Signs of Safety practice theory of change (Theory of Change) (Turnell and Murphy 2017) sets
out how their actions can improve children’s safety and well-being and the role that networks
can play. Practitioners’ ability to implement this Theory of Change is affected by support factors
in the organisation that allow and assist this way of working. Implementation is also affected by
the context in which the work is done. The Signs of Safety organisational Theory of Change sets
out the support factors that facilitate the implementation of the practice. To date, however, the
context has been taken as a given. The pandemic, however, has created a new context where
practitioners and agencies have had to question the taken for granted structure and culture for
delivering services. Lockdown restrictions have radically altered the context: most offices have
been closed, contact between staff has been limited and predominantly online not face-toface. Provision of services has also changed dramatically. For social workers, home visits have
continued when deemed necessary, but workers wear masks and socially distance, often not
going beyond the doorstep. Most family meetings and meetings with members of the networks
or partner agencies take place online only. Other services, such as education, health, parenting
support and treatment, have had limited contact with the children so their visibility is markedly
reduced. In these circumstances, radical adaptation is needed to function in the new context.
This study therefore asks:
1.

What is the organisation doing to promote the effective use of networks both before
and during COVID-19?

2. How helpful have these strategies been found to be by staff?
3. How widespread has the use of network has become and what can we learn from performance data about their impact?
We studied four local authorities all of whom were using Signs of Safety as their practice approach but who were at very different stages in implementing it at the beginning of the pandemic. It seems, anecdotally, that starting to use networks generally tends to occur at a later
stage in implementing Signs of Safety. We have anonymised the local authorities, referring to
them as A, B, C and D. In one authority D, network involvement was very widely embedded with
the use of networks being standard practice. In another B, networks were used very extensively in child in need and child protection teams but in children with disabilities and children
looked after teams were still relatively new and infrequent. The other two authorities, A and C,
had partially implemented Signs of Safety but at the start of the pandemic little use was being

Page 25

5

COVID-19 RESPONSE
made of networks. However, in both a decision was made to drive this aspect of implementation through more training and practice support as a strategy for dealing with the reduction in
professional services in the pandemic. We were told that in one authority this increased focus
on using networks occurred in September 2020 and in the other authority in December 2020.
To address the research question, this study adopts a realist approach to examining the functioning of the organisation and the practice with families. Pawson’s (2006) classification of
Context, Mechanism and Outcome (CMO) provides a framework for capturing the mechanism
of causal pathways. The context, in this study, has changed dramatically due to the pandemic
so the research explores the impact of that change. How was the organisation facilitating the
use of networks before COVID-19, how were those mechanism altered by pandemic restrictions, and in what ways were they modified so that they still provided support? In studying
mechanisms, we use Dalkin et al’s (2015) amplification of Pawson’s account which distinguishes
the resource (what was done) from the reasoning (how people reasoned about what was done.
So, for example, senior managers may have recognised that the pandemic restrictions were
preventing their usual methods of showing support and encouragement to staff and so instigated new methods of communication. But how did the workforce respond to those changes?
Did they find them supportive? Between them, the actions of the seniors (the resource) and the
reactions of the workforce (the reasoning) illustrate a causal pathway. So, for example, we ask
practitioners ‘what do managers do that make you feel supported?’ not just the outcome: ‘do
you feel supported?’ In reporting the findings, we are drawing on the respondents’ perceptions
of what has influenced them to identify causal pathways.
Scrutiny of the main research question led to generating a set of supplementary questions. The
first five relate to what has been happening with the Children’s Social Care departments both
before and since the pandemic began, seeking to understand how much use was made of networks before and since lockdown and what was seen to help or hinder their use. The final three
questions relate to the experience of family and network members.
1.

How have local authorities identified and used networks prior to the pandemic?

2. What have been the barriers to sustaining networks during the pandemic?
3. What have social workers done to enhance and support network involvement and what
did they do that worked less well?
4. How has technology been used to support the network and their involvement?
5. To what extent do leaders, managers and practitioners believe that involving networks
has assisted in managing risks and building safety/well-being within available resources and practice limitations during the pandemic?
6. What has been the experience of members of networks during the pandemic?
7. What has worked for members of networks, and how?
8. What has worked less well for members of networks, and why?
The main method of data collection has been semi-structured focus groups and interviews
with representatives of each level in the organisation because of our interest in what people
thought, felt and did in relation to using networks. The themes in the semi-structured focus
groups and interviews were drawn from the organisational and practice Theories of Change.
Transcriptions were made of the conversations and qualitatively analysed using NVivo. Analysis
was both top down — from the Theories of Change — and bottom up, generated from the data.

6

Page 26

DIRECT WORK WITH FAMILIES AND NETWORKS
Performance data was also scrutinised, and comparison made with national data and statistically equivalent authorities in order to assess correlation between strong use of networks
generally and during COVID-19. The set of key risk indicators were:
• Contacts
• Referrals
• Children in Need rate (CiN)
• Child Protection plan rate (CP)
• Children looked after rate (CLA)
To ascertain the views of families and network members, a survey was constructed but we obtained too small a response to be useful. It was problematic that we had to rely on busy social
workers to act as gatekeepers and provide us with information on which families had a network.

Ethics
Ethical approval was obtained from the London School of Economics Research Ethics Committee.

3. Direct work with families and networks
In the introduction, we listed some of the stresses that have been impacting families nationally:
physical and mental health problems, economic stress due to reduced income, the challenges of home-schooling children, intensified marital relationships contributing to conflict and
violence, and the intensified relationship between parents and children. All of these factors
applied to the families known to the four local authorities in this study with some respondents
saying they had seen an increase in domestic violence, substance misuse and mental distress.
We’ve seen an increase in poor parental mental health at the front door and over the past few
months social workers have been asking questions of parents, ‘What’s the impact of COVID?’,
you know, not necessarily ‘Have you got COVID?’, ‘Have you got any symptoms?’, but ‘What’s
been the impact of COVID in your house?’ And you can see for some families it’s just a pressure cooker of stress and quite intense, so we’ve definitely seen an increase in the impact on
parental mental health. Definitely seen an impact on increasing domestic abuse. Definitely
seen an increase in some young people’s mental health as well…at one stage over a matter
of weeks we had quite a few young people who had self-harmed or self-harmed by taking
overdoses and children missing.
I’ve got a couple of cases where they’ve come in over the COVID period where there’s been no
issues beforehand, but because of the additional pressures of having four kids in the house
and being under each other’s feet constantly, both being made redundant, that sort of thing
has caused additional issues.
For those families who, with their social worker, had created a support network there was the
additional stress because the network could not continue to operate in the same way while
social contact was so limited.

Page 27

7

COVID-19 RESPONSE
There’s been the isolation for families as well, where they’ve had this really high level of faceto-face support from their family network and then all of a sudden that’s not available and
that’s really impacted their mental health.
We’ve seen decline where somebody’s not had that sort of everyday pop in support that
they’ve had previously with family members.

How social workers adapted to the situation
When the first lockdown started on March 23rd 2020, life for everyone changed dramatically.
For staff in Children’s Social Care, a service that involved high contact with children and families, radical changes needed to be made swiftly. Later sections will report on the organisational
changes and processes that supported the front line workers but here the focus is on how they
sought to engage with families, provide help and monitor the safety and well-being of children
and young people.
Home visits continued to be made, where necessary, so that children could be seen in-person
and checks could be made on the home situation. Initially, people were unsure of what was permitted and a lack of personal protective equipment (PPE) was problematic. This was in short
supply in all the authorities at the start of the pandemic, but this was soon rectified and social
workers had face masks, gloves and aprons to reduce the risk of their taking infection into the
home, providing reassurance to families. Each authority soon formulated a risk assessment to
help decide whether a visit was necessary, weighing the value of the visit against the dangers
for all concerned and specifying the precautions that needed to be taken if a visit went ahead.
An example of such a risk assessment is in Appendix B.
These visits however could frequently not proceed as usual and, since regulations included a
ban on entering other people’s homes except in specific circumstances, attention had to be
paid to reassuring families about what was safe and legal.
When we initially went into lockdown in March, we had to do a lot of education work and
provide reassurance to lots of families and talk about our role and responsibility. And they’ve
been quite understanding of the fact that we’ve still got to be in the house, you know, the
children are on a protection plan, there’s a reason regarding that. We’ve had to work with
families around educating them because sometimes they’ve had older relatives that they’re
worried about or they’re having contact with them.
Families might object to the social worker entering the house because of the risk of infection.
There’s some social workers who’ve had some families saying, ‘I know that you’ve got high
caseloads of 20–30 children and you’re going in each one of them houses’, so it was a lot of
education work with families and providing that reassurance that we were working as safe as
possible. But our job can’t stop and it shouldn’t, and it’s just being really creative.
One authority introduced lateral flow tests to reassure families but sometimes the families’
objection to a visit was deemed an evasive technique:
‘Oh, you can’t come in, I’ve got COVID symptoms’, and we’re like ‘Let’s not play this game. You
were out doing your shopping 10 minutes ago, you haven’t developed symptoms in 10 minutes’. So, we’re seeing COVID being used as an excuse to try and prevent access quite a bit.

8

Page 28

DIRECT WORK WITH FAMILIES AND NETWORKS
But it does make it difficult if they’re avoidant, because we can’t go see them in school, and if
they’re saying they’re unwell with COVID symptoms, this is not safeguarding, but it’s at a level
that that would worry you so where you can’t go in, that’s when it gets difficult.
Visits could become difficult once children returned to school and were placed in ‘bubbles’ to
limit the spread of infection:
They [the children] have been sent home I don’t know how many times because their bubble’s
been in contact, and that’s quite stressful for the families. It’s quite stressful as well because
we’re not supposed to visit within that period of time if they’ve been in contact with COVID.
So then we’ve had to be quite creative, you know, doing video calls and door stop visits and
things like that, and also possibly being in contact with family members more to check in to
make sure everything’s going alright, so I’ll often ring Aunt, Uncle, Grandma, Grandad just to
see how things are going from their perspective, especially in those situations.
Most contact with families and networks has taken place online. This required providing technical support such as laptops and phones when needed. Social workers also had to help some
learn to use Teams, Zoom, and WhatsApp.
The positives of doing it on Teams, once you know…we’ve paid for internet connections and
explained to families how to download Teams. I think that there has been some technical
issues, but once it’s all sorted with the family members and who’s in the family network meeting, it’s positive ‘cause there’s no travel, there’s no issue with childcare and lots of the family
members can join.
I’ve had a bit of a mix with some of my families. I think it’s worked quite well and actually my
experience is some families who weren’t necessarily engaging very well with you before then
started to engage well with me by WhatsApp and over video and it sort of built my relationship. Whereas with other families, and I still think of one in particular and she was an older
lady, didn’t really have access to the internet, didn’t know how to use that, so I had to go and
show her, but that was a bit of a hindrance because she hadn’t heard of Teams.
WhatsApp has been an absolute godsend for families, because families can use WhatsApp
so easily and you can do a call on WhatsApp and invite the network to that. So, what we
found is Teams works, but families at times struggle sometimes with Teams, but WhatsApp
is brilliant.
Some reported that online contact worked best with families where there was already
a relationship:
For my team, the first lockdown we weren’t allowed to do any visits and so it went 100%
online for the first lockdown, and that seemed to work better if the relationship was already
established with the family. It was harder when it was new families.
How they adapted to maintaining contact with children was influenced by the age of the child.
In general, in-person contact was preferred with a younger child, even if it could only take place
in restricted circumstances such as talking through a window. Most older children were found
not only to be able to cope with online communication but also seemed to prefer it to face-toface contact. Getting to know a child initially, whatever their age, was seen as difficult to do
well online.

Page 29

9

COVID-19 RESPONSE
Being able to talk with a child without being overheard was problematic. If the conversation
was online, then you could not be certain that no-one was listening in. If it was taking place
in-person, then physical restrictions could make it difficult. A theme in comments on this was
the need to be creative.
I think in terms of the children and how important their safety networks are, and having those
open discussions with children, we’re also struggling because you won’t ask children at home
trying to find a safe space where we’re able to keep those two metres and able to work within
the guidelines, and asking a child feels really impersonal and it feels really, you know, ‘tickyboxy’ for the children. That brings its own challenges — some schools aren’t allowing you to
visit or you can’t get that direct work done there. But you have to be really creative about it
so I’ve used paper and pens, just back to old school — can you draw a picture of your family,
who’s important to you and all of that. It’s about really just thinking outside of the box, we’re
all working in times at the moment where everybody’s struggling with everything and I think
it’s just about pulling as much of your old school thinking into it getting back down to basics,
how do you do it? But I think for the children they’re really confused at the moment, during a
pandemic without even all of this need for safety network and children services involvement,
it’s a really anxious time for a lot of our children.
In terms of direct work with children and getting their views, sometimes it has been more difficult when you’re doing doorstep visits. Obviously, you can’t go into a huge amount of detail
about what’s going on for the family on their doorstep.
When we first went into the pandemic last year, one thing that helped with getting the children’s voice when you couldn’t go to the house was I would sometimes send out direct work
and bits and bobs for them to complete and then have a chat with them on a video call on
WhatsApp and talk about what they’ve done. But I do agree that you can’t always get the
voice of the child properly ‘cause you don’t know what’s going on in the house, what’s going
on around them but that has been a creative way of working that I know quite few practitioners have done.
It was really difficult in the first lockdown last year from March onwards to be able to get the
views of children. Certainly, children on child protection plans we really like to, or should be
trying to, see them on their own, but that was really not possible at that time. But I know that
quite a few people in our team would send out some different work or resources or games or
fun things to do really to try and just be as creative as possible. Now we are back to face-toface visits, taking perhaps older children, teenage children, out for a walk is something that
I’ve done to get them away from home, to try and get their voice and know what home life
looks like for them.
Initially in the first lockdown, sometimes I was going out and doing my visits, doing direct
work stood at the window and trying to be creative that way or, weather permitting, were
doing it outside in the garden and being a bit more creative, going on walks. And sometimes
I’ve done it where we have done it by a video call and done that direct work.
I’ve had a couple of cases where I’ve done direct work with the children over Teams and that’s
worked quite well, and so I’ll share like a Word document and I’ll give them control over that.
So we’ll do like My Three Houses or Safety House over Teams and do it that way, which has
worked really well on some occasions.
PPE could create problems:

10

Page 30

DIRECT WORK WITH FAMILIES AND NETWORKS
It’s not ideal for babies because they know our face and how we react and things like that
and, sometimes when I’ve been to see a baby on my caseload, they’re a little bit more wary
than they normally would be. I think older children are absolutely fine. I’ve had a child with
additional needs on my caseload, who would panic if I wore a mask, so I’ve had to be quite
creative with that where I’ve sat a huge safe distance from him and not worn a mask because
that would have really panicked him.
Keeping the required two metre distance could also be difficult with young children:
I have had children who have just run up to me and hugged me and I haven’t been able to do
anything about that. You can’t say to a child get off. What I have done afterwards is just had
a conversation about keeping each other safe and I thank them for the cuddle, but just said
we have to keep a special distance just to make sure we’re all safe.
The increased use of technology increased the options for keeping in touch with children and
was cited by many as something they want to keep after the pandemic.
I give them my mobile number if they’re teenagers and they’ve got their own phones. I’ll say if
you ever need me give me a ring, give me a text if you can’t get hold of us leave a message, I’ll
get back to you. If they want to be in the WhatsApp group, they can be in there, if they want
to ring me on mam’s phone, if they want to ring me at school — I always leave it up to them.
Especially in terms of visits as well, so if you don’t want us to visit at school that’s absolutely
fine, I’ll just visit you at home. I do try and give them quite a lot of control over how we communicate. Obviously, I say you know I’ve got to visit you every two weeks I’ve got to see you at
home every two weeks and there’s no getting out of that. But the other bits and pieces, it’s up
to you how you want to be involved.
I think when we look at some teenagers, they quite enjoyed doing the FaceTiming because
that’s what they were used to. So, for them to speak more openly they quite like some of the
FaceTime rather than you stood there asking them lots of questions. Social media helped with
that, in the WhatsApp groups especially, so I think that we’ve come on quite a long way in the
past year, really.
Monitoring the safety of the child was done partly through visits and online contact but networks were also used in a variety of ways both to support the family and monitor the safety of
the children.

Page 31

11

COVID-19 RESPONSE
Case Example
This case involved a Mum and Dad with historic drug and alcohol problems who had one
child on a child protection plan and were expecting another baby. A family network had
been established and a safety plan developed just before the first lockdown happened in
March 2020.
It was really good, the plan that we developed, and then we went into lockdown and we
were a bit shocked by the rules and how we were going to ensure safety for this baby.
The baby was born shortly after lockdown and was placed in foster care with a naturally
connected person. The family network members continued to meet on video calls to develop the plan in the context of the new COVID restrictions. They had mapping sessions
to share ideas about how they could support the family, as well as ideas about how they
could make sure Mum could evidence that she could safeguard the baby when it returned
home. As well as regular unannounced video calls to Mum from the social worker and
other network members, one innovative idea was that the foster carer would video call
Mum whenever the baby woke up in the night.
That worked really, really well because she answered the calls and that showed us that
if the baby woke up in the night she could respond to that child.
The network continued to have weekly meetings and stayed connected in a WhatsApp
group where the plan and notes from the weekly meetings were shared within the group
so that everyone remained involved. After 8 weeks the baby was returned home, and the
safety plan was reassessed.
We looked at what further things we needed to put in place and what things we didn’t
need to do anymore because we’re making progress. And that plan changed continuously and the more that the parents stuck to the plan, the less we were worried and the
less the network were worried.
So that was a really, really good example of getting that child home — we really pretended the child was home before the child was home to make sure Mum evidenced she
could care for the child.
The final comment from the social worker echoes the views of many of this study’s respondents when asked about the impact of having to work differently because of COVID
restrictions:
I think before the pandemic, when I found out about it, I was really, really worried
about how on earth we were going to evidence safety for this child. However, I think the
pandemic also helped us in a way because we all had to be creative. We had to make
sure we were in contact more. Video calls, that’s not something that I would have done
before the pandemic, however now even with other cases I’ll video call and that’s really
good for building relationships as well, because, you know, you can go out and visit
within your timescales but in between when you’re video calling and having conversations with people you’re building really good relationships.

12

Page 32

DIRECT WORK WITH FAMILIES AND NETWORKS
Pandemic restrictions often meant they could not enter the house, but network members were
able to have consistent, regular virtual contact (video calls, WhatsApp groups set up by the
social worker, texts and phone calls) with families — these frequently happened every day, and
often, several times a day. Also, under the government guidelines, many families were able to
form a ‘bubble’ with another household where they could enter each other’s homes and behave
like one household.
Obviously, it’s not ideal doing virtual visits, you want to be in the house and it’s the things that
you can see around the house on a virtual visit, but you can’t see the body language. You can’t
feel the atmosphere and things like that. You can’t feel those things as you do when you’re in a
visit. So, it’s been difficult to do those analysing parts of your visit, you know, when you think
what have I seen, what have I felt? But using those support bubbles has been a huge help in
terms of getting the network involved, getting them in to see the children, what are they seeing and what are they feeling? Making use of that.
The family ‘bubbles’ allowed members of the network to have that face-to-face contact to
offer practical help and emotional support to families. In some cases, they were also able to
move in with the family, or the family or children were able to move in with them or stay for
short periods.
There was a period where we weren’t allowed to visit so what I did was we used their bubble
so that their bubble was checking in on the child, video calls and making sure the child was
alright. They would put in information in the WhatsApp group so we knew when people were
seeing them, and I would video call during that time and the parents would show me around
the house and I would do unannounced and announced video calls and one of our worries
would be if they didn’t answer then we would then get someone out to check in.
[I have been] in contact with family members more to check in to make sure everything’s going alright, so I’ll often ring Aunt, Uncle, Grandma, Grandad just to see how things are going
from their perspective.
[In a neglect case] I had a maternal grandma move into the family home to help with the
practical care of the children, with the day-to-day living.
I’ve had one family where they’ve got two severely autistic children and when they had to
self-isolate, the uncle also had to self-isolate, and he actually took one of the children to live
with him for those three weeks ‘cos it would have just been unmanageable for them otherwise.
We had a case in where Mum’s had a previous baby removed from her care and Dad was an
adopted child himself and quite significant worries around his violence. And actually, the
network that we’ve been able to pull together — they went to live with paternal Mum for a period of time. They’ve got a group WhatsApp between them and they send the safety plan and
the videos to the social worker to evidence what’s been going on. So that’s actually worked in
the sense of we’ve been able to a) keep that baby with a naturally connected network and b)
safe and thriving.
When you’ve got, say, a grandmother who’s going out every day to check up on children and
just check in and see how they are, other agencies are seeing the impact of that and seeing
that it can work.
The number of people allowed to form a ‘bubble’ was limited and so other network members
offered regular support through virtual means.

Page 33

13

COVID-19 RESPONSE
We’ve got members of the network who are doing video calls at different times of day to the
family, but we’ve got that on top of professional visits as well.
Some of it is about that emotional support from the network, that telephone contact, being able to go out for a walk, some of it’s about that the network keeps up with WhatsApp
video calls.
The network have been able to speak to the child directly over the phone, or FaceTime or
things like that and just check in to see that things are alright.
You’ve got network members who are shielding, they’ve got really difficult health issues themselves, they’re worried about leaving the house. But they could just ring, maybe out of hours,
and check in, see how things are going and report back, that sort of thing. It’s just making
the best of a bad situation, trying to put as much safety as we possibly can, even though it’s
not ideal.
We’ve had a few families set their own family WhatsApp groups and they’ll all post on
that, ‘How are you doing today, do you need anything?’ and it’s kept the momentum of
support going.
I think sometimes it’s been worrying for families that they don’t see the wider family circle as
often, so they are checking in anyway — using text messages, FaceTime, that sort of thing.
The regular virtual and physical support that network members provided meant that safety plans could stay on track while social work face-to-face visits were limited. In all cases,
members continued to update the rest of the network and the social worker as to how things
were going.
So, what I would normally say to the network is to always mention if you’ve seen the children
and check in with them personally as well. So yes, the network members and the children all
report back ‘I’ve seen Grandma and we had a chat and we played games online or whatever
together’. So that’s what I’m thinking of adding to that safety — Grandma saying she called,
Mum allowed that call, kids are saying that call happened, and so it’s adding to that safety.
Just feels like it’s a lot of additional little pieces of work that are kind of pulling together, if
that makes sense.
I would say actually since the pandemic family members have been checking in a lot more
with me. I’ve had where family members, when they necessarily haven’t been able to go out
to the family, but they still FaceTime the children or they’ve rang them and then they’ve got in
touch with me and given me a regular update of how the children are doing or how parents
are doing.
One of the local authorities set up a new team with specific focus on working with family networks and the team manager reported:

14

Page 34

DIRECT WORK WITH FAMILIES AND NETWORKS
I’ll just focus a little bit on the restoring family relationships team. So, it is a fairly new
team, it’s been running now just under three months and the team are quite new to family
working and finding networks. But I think one of the beauties of the team because they
haven’t had…we’ve only got two people that are established early help workers — the rest
of the five of the team are new to the service that was there haven’t been exposed to Signs
of Safety or Family Finding previously. I think what’s been really refreshing to see is that
new staff are very much more open to looking at networks, particularly things like what I’ve
seen in practice where we sometimes have trouble with things like remembering that children have fathers, remembering children have a paternal side of the family. Really looking,
exploring those networks from the maternal and paternal side of the family strengthens
networks. Within this team, we’ve been running this just under three months, but since
then none of our young people have accessed supported accommodation. They’ve either
returned home to their family under some sort of repairing of relationships, or we’ve found
another network for that young person to go and stay with. I know it’s only a short term
we’ve been running, but for three months I think we’ve been probably working with just
over 20 young people and none of those accessed supported accommodation. We’ve had
places where there’s been SGO (Special Guardianship Order) breakdowns, we’ve had some
breakdowns of child arrangement orders, and what we’ve been able to do is find another
member of the family who’s been able to take that young person on. So, we’ve been quite
successful at this moment in time in terms of looking at networks and thinking more creatively around young people and avoiding going into supported accommodation.

Page 35

15

COVID-19 RESPONSE
Case example of network support during COVID restrictions
This case involved historical drug use and domestic abuse. There were worries that Mum
was not engaging with the professional support services put in place to help reduce the
risk of harm to the children. The first thing the social worker did with the network was a
mapping session to look at the reasons Mum was not engaging with services, as well as
the worries around drug use and domestic abuse:
We looked at what were the triggers…what would support her to work with services?
We looked at the domestic abuse. What happened? What were the circumstances?
What were the triggers there? As well as her drug use, we looked at what the triggers
were with that.
Through the mapping, the network was able to identify certain triggers, for instance,
when Mum drank alcohol, she was more likely to use drugs. Arguments with the Dad
would escalate alcohol and drug use.
Historically Mum would go, you know, off radar for three days, that would be a significant worry; they knew that that would ring alarm bells. If Mum wasn’t attending
appointments, was a massive worry. If they had an argument and the Dad left, Mum
would feel rejected, she would panic with that.
A safety plan was developed to address the worries and build safety for the children.
The network was able to support the plan through a high level of virtual contact with
Mum every day. Each network member had an allocated time to video call the Mum each
morning and throughout the day. They would also video call at unannounced times during
the day ‘…just to check on Mum’s presentation’. If Mum didn’t answer a call, the network
member would let the rest of the network know though a WhatsApp group message.
The person who lived closest to Mum would then go to her house and check in-person if
everything was all right.
It was really good. We could rely on that network to provide safety, to provide us with
information so that we could act on that.
There’s a lot more reliance on that parent or primary caregiver to liaise with the other
family as well. Let’s say the child goes to the grandparents at weekends to take a bit of
pressure off, we just have to rely on people to communicate with each other during the
pandemic. While there’s no knocking on the door or people coming into the office, we’re
relying on the networks a lot more.

A video of social workers discussing a case using a network is available at https://knowledgebank.signsofsafety.net/it-can-be-done-using-networks-during-covid
The examples offered by social workers illustrated the varied ways in which, despite lockdown
restrictions, networks kept in touch with families, helped them and helped the social worker to
monitor the safety and well-being of the child.

16

Page 36

ORGANISATIONAL SUPPORT FOR FRONT LINE WORK
4. Organisational support for front line work
Child protection social work is always a challenging area of work where support needs to be
provided so that individual front line social workers are not alone in practice. Some level of
practical help, supervision, team support, group discussion, learning opportunities and managerial oversight is in place helping with skills in engaging with children, families, and networks,
reasoning tasks and the emotional impact of the work. In the pandemic, the need for support
is heightened. At the personal level, everyone’s life is radically disrupted and adaptations have
to be made, with the illness and deaths caused by COVID-19 producing varying levels of anxiety, disability and grief. At the professional level, everyone has to create new ways of working
whether they are involved in direct work or in managerial posts. In addition, in all of the four
local authorities, the implementation of Signs of Safety was still seen as a work in progress with
even the most advanced authority still seeing room for strengthening the skills. The goal therefore was not just trying to maintain past practice standards but to improve them.
The quality of the front line work described in the preceding sections was supported by many
strands of work within the organisation. The findings are presented here in the linear sequence
of practical support, teams, learning and development, and managers but it is the interaction
of all these elements that is important in creating a sense for staff of being well supported.
However, despite the availability of the support which is experienced and valued, there were
numerous comments indicating how work in the pandemic is demanding on a personal level.

(a) Practical support
Local authorities proved to be very adaptive, making decisions and purchases considerably
more quickly than usual and providing the practical means for home and online working to
function both for staff and for families.
Electronic equipment was crucial. One person commented:
It took a pandemic to get some quite significant investment in the IT stuff.
Tablets were provided to all staff who had not already got them. In the one authority where
social workers did not already have smartphones, they were quickly distributed.
Software to support homeworking was promptly made available, all opting to use Microsoft Teams.
The lockdown came in March and Microsoft Teams happened overnight, so it wasn’t perfect,
but it was there, it’s continued to be updated…it has enabled the workers to continue to do
their role and do it in a safe way.
Practical help to enable online working was provided not just to staff but to families,
with authorities distributing, where needed, tablets and smartphones, and paying for
internet connections.

Page 37

17

COVID-19 RESPONSE
We got about 400 laptops for vulnerable children and families that we got out to families.
We used our pupil premium to make sure every child in our care had laptop and access to
technology and then where we had families who were still struggling, rightly or wrongly, and
this is going to be on tape, I gave permission for people to go and buy cheap smartphones
with them.
Online working was hindered in two authorities by poor Wi-Fi and mobile signals in many areas.
At the beginning of the pandemic, personal protective equipment (PPE) was in short supply nationwide with health service provision being the priority so home visiting was banned or limited
to very high concern cases. However, once it became available, the supply was regular and no
shortages were reported. Staff were able to collect masks, gloves, sanitisers, and aprons for
home visits. Staff are now getting vaccinated, adding to safety for themselves and the families
they visit.
Help was provided in furnishing an office at home.
We’ve been able to go into the office, grab whatever equipment we need. They’ve offered
desks, chairs, screens and things like that and then we’ve also been entitled to if we wanted
to buy our own desk. So we’ve been given money to buy our own desk or buy blinds if we’re
sitting near a window, and extra heaters so they supported that really well.

(b) Team support
Comments showed how the team was a major support at a personal and professional level,
the closure of offices for most staff disrupted the daily informal and formal contact that they
valued, and several online strategies were developed for providing some version of its capacity to support individual well-being, help with the emotional impact of the work and with
reasoning problems.
Working at home meant that people lost the clear structure to their day of going into and leaving the office.
I think what the hardest thing is you don’t actually get to sort of finish work ‘cos you’re still at
work. You’re sitting here at home like, ‘Oh, I’m still here — all I’ve done is closed the laptop’.
I think that’s a most bizarre feeling that unless I’ve gone out for a visit and I’m coming back
then I feel like I’ve finished work, but most days I’m here finishing work and I’m like, ‘Oh, it
feels weird’. I’m not actually separating work from home life — home life is now work.
One team sought to create the working day’s structure online:
We have a virtual Teams office that’s accessible to all the team. What they do is they will say
‘good morning’ to each other or say their farewells like in an office environment if you come
in you’d say hello to people, you’d say goodbye, so that those sort of things are happening.
Caring for each other’s well-being was a common theme including being available to talk
through practice worries.

18

Page 38

ORGANISATIONAL SUPPORT FOR FRONT LINE WORK
It’s just about catching up on Teams, having those 10-minute conversation about what you’re
cooking for today or what you’ve been up to at the weekend. Just those conversations like you
would have in the office when you go to make a cup of tea and you catch up with someone in
the kitchen, to catch up and just have that 5-minute downtime. I do miss my colleagues —
there’s some colleagues I haven’t seen for a couple of months just because of how things have
been. So yes, I think that’s been the most difficult.
But also that opportunity to put on there, ‘I’m stuck with something’ or ‘I need an idea or a
resource’, and people come in sharing their ideas about that across the team. Or there are
times where people are saying ‘I just had a really rubbish situation happen or a visit with
somebody’ and somebody within the team will call them and have a chat. I do think that
within the realms of virtual office we’ve got something quite near to an office environment in
the pre-COVID scenario.
We will often ring each other just in the day as a check in to make sure that person is OK,
even if that’s at the end of the day, in the middle of the day. And it’s not always about cases,
it’s just that general check in to see how each other is doing and I found that quite helpful,
because normally we’d be in and out of the office and you see a lot of people and we haven’t
had that. We also have a WhatsApp group for my team, there’s just six of us so we’ll always
chat in there and check in on each other or if anyone needs support or advice we write in that
group, that’s been quite helpful.
We tried to be creative in terms of meeting up somewhere out in the open when we could so
that we had a bit of that social support from each other that we were all missing.
Everybody’s been in the same boat and starting to support each other and starting to make
sure that everybody else’s well-being is OK. Because you know, it’s not great, it’s not brilliant.
We all really struggled because we don’t realise how much we talk to our colleagues in the
office about some of the difficulties or bouncing ideas about, asking what services we could
refer to, so sometimes I try and call people rather than email just to have that interaction. But
they’ve been really good with having group supervisions and just catch ups as well, a phone
call every day, which even if it’s just an email and then a phone call to say ‘Yes, we’re online,
and this is what we’re up to’, it’s just knowing that those people are all there and all accessible. I’ve never felt like I can’t contact anybody, so that’s been really good, because it is hard.
I think everybody is missing the face-to-face. People are tired, and trying to keep people motivated when it’s team meeting after team meeting. The chief exec was quite clear in January
about making sure that people take an hour off in the middle of the day to get out and get
some fresh air while it’s light. If you look in her diary she’s got it booked in as a model that
that’s what we need to do.
And it’s that spontaneous, you know, just to be able to talk to a colleague when you’ve had a
difficult call or come back from a visit and offload. They’ve missed it a lot.
In regards to support from supervisors, especially at the moment, I just feel like because
they’re just at the other end of the phone, whereas normally you would have a whole office
to chat about things and go to people, I feel that all my questions are now directed straight
at my supervisor. It has been helpful to have more contact and more access to them, really.
I know if I have any questions at all I just call my supervisor and they’ll always talk through
things. And so I think COVID — ‘cos it’s more virtual and everyone’s more accessible and
everyone’s available — I think it has helped in terms of that, especially if you do have a lot of
questions and you want to get past them, so that has been positive.

Page 39

19

COVID-19 RESPONSE
We found that practice supervisors, so that’s the first line managers, they’re getting a lot
more calls from staff, whereas normally they’d probably just check it out and offload to colleagues, supervisors are finding they’re called a lot more and having to do a lot more of that
work. And I think people that live on their own have really struggled with that isolation.
We’ve brought in a weekly team meeting. So instead of having longer meetings less often,
we’re having our long meetings once a week so that people have the chance to get round the
table virtually and see everyone and catch up.
Some Duty teams operated from the office on a rota basis when regulations allowed but one authority kept the offices open for all teams throughout though the need to be COVID-safe meant
that only a few at a time could be in and a rota system was devised. There was a high demand
for a place.

(c) Learning opportunities
Despite the pressure of workloads, training continued to be given priority and the importance
of on-going support in using Signs of Safety was acknowledged in all four authorities irrespective of their current level of implementation.
Obviously, there’s training still available to staff, although it’s moved virtually, but it is available for staff to book onto, and we’ve continued with our development in terms of people’s
progression in terms of further education. We’ve got people doing practice educator awards
and we have got some staff started last week at University to do the safeguarding module,
again virtually, but it’s getting that learning. We don’t know how long this is going to go on
for and we didn’t want to delay anyone’s learning. People are really quite keen to do those,
we haven’t had to force anyone into it, everyone’s saying, ‘We want to learn, we want to progress’, so we’ve supported that.
Training being available online was seen as both positive and negative, some pleased to save
the travel time and appreciating the ability for the course to be taken by an unlimited number
of people. Others missed the direct contact and discussion. People who went on courses were
often then responsible for further dissemination.
We’ve got the practice advisors and they obviously share their knowledge and learning. We’ve
got mandatory sessions that we attend on a monthly basis, practice lead sessions. So, people
that attend there are practice supervisors — so equivalent of team managers in other authorities — our team managers, service managers and other authorities up from there, and
anyone who’s been on the five day Signs of Safety training is defined as a practice lead and
then each team has a plan, a very structured approach to how they’re going to then deliver
and share the learning or those practice lead sessions within the team meetings. So we’re
really trying to continue to evolve that and maintain Signs of Safety as a focus of the ethos of
our practice and make sure that new workers or newly-qualified workers or workers from other authorities that have not had the benefit or got the support in place to enable that model
to be continued.
A respondent who had been on the Family Finding course, said:

20

Page 40

ORGANISATIONAL SUPPORT FOR FRONT LINE WORK
I will be doing a session in one of our team meetings, just sharing some of that with the team
and we’ve got that in for April just so I can go back and share some of those strategies to help
the team members.
One authority who had recently stepped up their implementation of Signs of Safety had a Signs
of Safety Consultant in from July 2020 for two months.
[We had a Signs of Safety Consultant] in the MASH and the assessment team which really
helped slow thinking down and also helped social workers ask the best questions of referrers and families, and I think really what we’ve done at the front door should hopefully start
transferring through, or progressing through, to the other teams as well. I think if we start the
practice there then it can also be picked up going forward.
All the authorities had some posts providing additional learning and development with a variety of job titles such as practice lead, champion and practice advisors and all the comments on
them were very positive; a judgment also reported in one authority’s evaluation of the contribution of practice leads.
We can have sessions with the practice leads. We can book in sessions with them with the
case that we’re worried about and they’re really, really good at slowing down your thinking
and going over scenarios and helping you. So, I found them really, really useful.
We have a Family Finding champion and a restorative practice champion as well, so there’s
certain people trained in different things around family networking that we go to if you have
any questions around it. So it helps knowing when people are in the team that are trained
in different areas and then just giving them a call that would be helpful, especially if you do
have a lot of questions and you want to get past them.
We’ve got the champions as well that you can go to, so if you’ve got them in your team and
you might want to ask a family network meeting question or something else, you can direct
it at them.
Group supervision was also a widely used strategy for casework support and learning.
We also have group supervision booked in. So, we have our own team group supervisions that
we have with the manager and the rest of our own small team which is on Teams, and we all
have an opportunity to share and discuss our cases. It’s not just family networks that we get
support with, it could be Words and Pictures, it can be a mixture of different things, it could
just even be to get best questions to ask the family.
We have group supervisions as well. So once every few weeks we have a Signs of Safety team
meeting, each time it’s about a different topic so it could be Words and Pictures or network
meetings.
You absolutely need somebody championing it [Signs of Safety implementation] and driving
it constantly, day in, day out. I think with that there, then you’ve got a chance of it landing.

(d) Managers
Everyone, whatever their level in the organisation, had to adapt their work, often dissolving

Page 41

21

COVID-19 RESPONSE
some of their role boundaries to deal with the new normal. Team leaders, middle and senior
managers, according to both themselves and other staff, recognised the need for additional
support for teams having to work in such unusual circumstances. Mention has already been
made of the practical support provided for home and online working. But there was also widespread recognition of the professional loneliness of home working:
Workers are really struggling and they’re feeling isolated. It’s bringing that stress and pressure into their once safe haven, and I think the pressures that are being felt by workers to be
responding all the time — and it doesn’t matter how many times you can say to people, ‘If you
were out on visits, you’d be going a whole day without responding to that email or that phone
call, so why do you feel that pressure to put on yourself to respond to that straight away?’ I
think it doesn’t matter how many times we’re saying it and trying to reassure them, they’re
still feeling that pressure. They’re still not taking regular breaks; in fact they’re working for so
much longer in front of a screen. I think across the board all teams are doing everything they
can from a manager perspective to support. I think we probably all spend much more than
half our day checking in with our staff. And I think there’s a knock-on effect to your own work
but you recognise that actually, your availability for that offload, for those case discussions,
is much more important in supporting your staff. And I think everything that could be done is
being done from this kind of virtual distance, but I still think there are workers really struggling with it.
The main strategies that managers adopted for supporting staff were to make themselves more
easily available for consultation on casework or personal issues, to provide counselling support
service and to provide positive feedback to staff, acknowledging the pressure under which they
were working and praising their ability to still do good work.
Examples of making themselves more available included:
I think management, despite everything that’s going on in the world, have been absolutely,
incredibly supportive. I found my manager particularly to be absolutely great, I can go to her
whenever I need to — ring her, email her, go on Teams, talk to her. I think that management
have been doing really well in my experience — there’s a pandemic going on yet they’re still
being cool headed and offering really good advice to help us in our practice. So, for me I’ve
had nothing but really positive experience.
We also get to meet with the Assistant Director and senior management. We will meet with
them and discuss any worries or anything that we feel we need answers to and that’s really
good, that’s good to have that space and you do feel listened to, we do get a response to that.
So yes, I think we are really supported.
I think the support from my senior manager has been absolutely phenomenal, it really has.
She’s just really supportive, she’s very available, open and honest with me in terms of what’s
happening, and if I raise something with her I know I’ll get a response quite quickly and timely.

22

Page 42

ORGANISATIONAL SUPPORT FOR FRONT LINE WORK
Even pre-pandemic there was things that I had in place. So as a senior manager I would have,
every other month, a kind of a drop in. I had one for the social work teams, one for early help,
one for adoption then one across the other teams and anybody could come. It was a kind of a
free session where they could ask any questions, talk about things that were worrying them,
I always ask them to share things that were going well. And from that they would get a document of almost ‘You said, we did’ kind of approach to some of the issues they were raising.
We’ve continued that throughout the pandemic albeit virtually. We didn’t get it going straight
away in that initial lockdown, but I would say probably since June we’ve been back up and
running with those regular sessions and they’re really well attended. I have to say it’s probably my favourite part of the job, yes.
Managers made efforts to provide psychological support, acknowledging the pressures of the
work environment.
We do get weekly updates from senior managers praising us for our work, mentioning good
practice. A lot of other professionals are recognising good practice which would not have
happened before COVID so that is really, really good.
We’ve been starting doing some self-care group supervision where we come together as a
leadership team and look at things we found difficult and then share ideas around it. And
that’s led by clinical psychologists, and we’re looking at sort of developing that further within
a pilot area in terms of how we enhance our self-care package while working virtually during
this scenario. Because a lot of our work, we still get burnout, compassion fatigue, vicarious
trauma and it’s really important that we’re around trying to make sure that we’re supporting
in the right sort of way. So we’re trying that out at the moment and if it is something that
makes a difference I’m sure it would be something that we roll out to a wider children’s service
level. There’s a lot of stuff in the discussions around permissions — giving yourself permission not to go back-to-back into meetings and actually it’s OK to have a break, it’s OK have
a screen break, it’s OK to go for a walk. A lot of it’s around giving yourself permission to do
certain things, we put ourselves under the expectation that we’ve got to answer every email
or answer every call, or we book in back-to-back meetings to feel productive. So a lot of that
was around in the conversations already about this idea about who gives you permission to
do stuff. So it’s been really useful.
Senior manager: I do a weekly update to staff and a lot of that is about celebrating great
practice and sharing great practice.
I think we’re in quite a good culture of checking out if we’re not sure, you know, my phone
never stops ringing and I’m happy with that and happy with people just checking things out.
If they feel a little bit uncomfortable about something, there’s often a reason for it so talking that through can be really helpful. I think overall most staff are quite confident in their
decision-making but that’s because of the systems that are in place around that to support
that decision-making, like supervision, group supervision, management support, even other
professional’s support, the IRO service.
We’ve had from our director and from our Chief Exec quite a push around protecting time
in the day to have emotional well-being. We are checking in, I think a lot more, it’s fair to
say in terms of knowing that people are isolated and not maybe having that offload with
their colleagues.
Some brought in additional services for helping with the psychological impact of the pandemic
and the changed working conditions.

Page 43

23

COVID-19 RESPONSE
At the very start of the first lockdown, they quickly put into place a telephone helpline for staff
to be able to contact them for some emotional support if that was needed. And that’s continued throughout the pandemic when staff members have had difficult cases to deal with or
where they’ve had their own personal or family bereavement issues. So we have a principal
therapist who generally picks up that work on a confidential basis.

24

Page 44

PARTNER AGENCIES
5. Partner agencies
Safeguarding is a multi-professional and multi-agency responsibility and the pandemic restrictions altered the working patterns substantially for all but the police. Social workers reported
a mix of predominantly helpful but also some unhelpful experiences in working with other professionals. The move to online working also changed the way the different agencies behaved.
There were several comments highlighting that professionals were generally feeling more anxious because of families being under greater stress, children being less visible and services
operating differently from usual.

Health
We work a lot with Health, and I think that throughout the pandemic it’s been difficult because
if you’re looking at families in crisis, and if it’s about behavioural issues say, we were quite
frustrated at times that in Health their guidance seemed to be different than Children Services
in terms of COVID and visiting, and things like that. So it was quite frustrating at times where
they needed to be visiting families in crisis, but yet couldn’t. They would have contact with us
in the background and that would probably be the same as prior to the pandemic.
I think I’ve had more support — well maybe it’s not that I’ve had more support, but maybe it’s
‘cos I’ve noticed how, especially with health visitors, how much they have been supportive especially during COVID, just helping with visits where we weren’t able to go out. It’s like we sort
of took it in turns — I’ve gone on visits together with health visitors, when they’ve fed things
back to me they gave me advice and we’ve always sort of worked together, especially since
the lockdown… But I do find the health visitors…I’ve just got a new-found respect for their
role and how much they’ve been supporting us during all of this. In all honesty, I don’t think I
could have done it without them.

Education
With the schools, they weren’t really seeing the children so there wasn’t that same involvement, but they were participating if we’re having like care teams or child in need reviews. The
professionals were attending those meetings and they were hearing what was happening as
they weren’t seeing the children — some were because they were dropping off food parcels
and things like that, some children were still getting meals from school during that break and
so some teachers were seeing their children. In terms of us communicating about our worries,
it would just be on our meetings, such as the child in need reviews and the care teams and
core groups and things like that.
Schools worked really hard. We got a really good school offer and schools were going above
and beyond despite all the changing regulations about what they were doing. We tried to
prioritise that from the off, so we did get quite a good response from schools. Some had to go
to different schools ‘cause we’ve got some tiny little schools here, but yes, I think we did get a
good chunk of them into schools. That’s part of our rag-rating on the children, we knew about
whether they were going to school or not, and that was certainly the message we were trying
to give to workers and families about getting young people in school.
With both schools and health visitors, there were some examples of people going beyond their
usual role boundaries and doing what was needed for the children.

Page 45

25

COVID-19 RESPONSE
We’ve seen that schools in particular are going above and beyond to ensure children are
visible and seen even when they’ve not got children in school and you know contacting us if
they’re really worried. We’ve been trying to coordinate a school attendance of our most vulnerable children, and if they’re not in, the social workers are knowing about it and how we
can support that in a very collaborative way.
I’ve got a lady I’m working with in a school who, obviously the kids weren’t at school at one
point, but I was isolating so I couldn’t go out so she was doing my visits for us. So there’s some
professionals who have really gone above and beyond to make sure the kids are safe and be
involved in making sure that happens.

Law
Lockdown has led to delays in processing court cases, and this is having a negative impact on
children through delays in making permanent plans for them.
Commenting on the delays, one person said:
I didn’t think that was necessarily in the children’s best interest, but I could see why it was
fair for parents to give them equal opportunity to have a hearing. I think you’d have got a fair
hearing if you’d got Teams or Zoom. We’ve got children now who potentially have missed their
opportunity. We had adopted placements lined up, and then you are months down the line
and it’s delayed the care plan and potentially changed the care plan. I think the judiciary are
keen that not just justice is done but justice is seen to be done. If you think of the group that
they belong to, perhaps to them, making decisions online was so alien that it just didn’t feel
morally OK. But they’re doing it now aren’t they?
One authority took practical steps to make it easier for courts to operate:
So, for example, as you know, there’s an issue across the country with the delays within care
proceedings because of the pandemic and various bits and bobs. So, we worked with the
local judiciary and in each of our localities we’ve set up a family court hub, so that’s a room
that’s got the right equipment in that anyone can access so they can go and be there and get
access to hearing whether it’s a parent and their solicitor or a professional or someone, just
to enable that to work better and make sure that we’re supporting everyone involved, but also
trying to reduce the delays to everyone.
I think probably their anxieties are higher because of the current situation. Some schools are
very different, but their expectation and the level of referrals we’re getting, their expectations
of a social worker remaining involved are higher than they were before. I can certainly think
of a case where the school…this 10-year-old boy’s got some quite challenging behaviour, and
today we’re full up to here but they want a social worker running out there right now after
every incident. And we’ve gone, ‘Well, hang on a minute we can’t parent this child — let’s look
at the network. We know that there’s a grandma. We know that there’s an aunt. Let’s look at
what they’re doing, let’s look at the safety plan’. Actually, we don’t need to stay involved. Because the family are the ones that are going to do this and we need to support them to have
the tools to do it.

26

Page 46

PARTNER AGENCIES
Therapeutic services
Several therapeutic services went entirely online so this affected the ways they provided help.
The drug and alcohol service, they’re not offering a full service which has being quite hard on
families we work with.
And it’s difficult with the drug and alcohol service because they’re not doing physical visits —
only over the phone so they’re not able to do any kind of urine screen and things, especially if
you’ve got cases in court where you kind of rely on that for evidence for the child. And because
they can’t do any of that, they either don’t come to the meetings and say, ‘I’ve got nothing
to share anyway’, or they come to the meeting and say, ‘I’ve got nothing to share because I
can’t do any work with them’, which is really difficult and that could just be because that’s the
policies that the organisation’s got in place. Which is obviously not their fault if they’ve got to
follow them policies, but it has been difficult for our work.
There’s delays in some services because of the COVID pandemic, I know in particular some of
our families have raised around some concern about therapeutic services that haven’t been
working during COVID and it’s delayed things for them in terms of addressing issues that they
need to address. So, I think it has caused some delay in some parts of our care planning.
The move online had one unintended benefit: making it easier for more people to attend.
I think the use of video technology has really enhanced our capacity to engage in a different
way. We’ve seen people attend meetings that previously wouldn’t have attended because they
wouldn’t have been able to drive the two hours out of the clinic they were delivering and then
spend the hour in the meeting…we even got three consultant paediatricians to a conference
because it was online — we have never achieved that!
In summary, the picture provided of working with partner agencies during the pandemic offers
a mixed picture with education and health, who normally have the most frequent contact with
children, adapting in many ways to work collaboratively and maintain an oversight of the child.

Page 47

27

COVID-19 RESPONSE
6. Anxiety about using networks to provide safety
A major factor in using networks to provide safety for children and their parents is the extent
to which social workers and partner agencies embrace the approach or become anxious at
managing danger to children in this way. Using networks of naturally connected people who
are selected by the family to help them think through their problems and find solutions that
the network then helps them achieve is a radical change to a sector that has become used to
creating child protection plans that set out a range of professional help that the family should
access in order to improve the child’s safety in the longer term.
Statutory regulations also act as a deterrent to using networks. The Care Planning, Placement
and Case Review (2010) Regulations require that Connected Persons (members of the network) be temporarily approved as Foster Carers if they provide care of a child accommodated
by a local authority (under s.20 or s.38 Children Act 1989). This hinders those ‘naturally connected’ to the child ‘stepping up and stepping in’ to help, support and care for a child which
should be (although is not always) a reasonable expectation of a local authority. It hinders if
not actively deters those valuable informal network arrangements of families by requiring assessment, checks, remuneration and training of a connected person as a ‘Foster Carer’ when
for most, the last thing they wish to be considered as is a ‘Foster Carer’ and what they want to
be is a friend, carer, ‘granny’, auntie, or good neighbour. Indeed, such informal arrangements
are frequently used by families where there is no social work involvement. The ‘intrusion’ of
the local authority and the conferring and treatment of Foster Care status is based on ensuring that children out of parental care and in the care of others is ‘safe’ — but the presumption
underpinning the regulatory framework seems to be that members of the network are therefore ‘not safe’ and represents a disproportionate hindrance to the contribution of the network
to safeguarding.
Signs of Safety and networks tend to be seen positively by social workers.
I think it appeals to a lot of people because it goes to the image of what they wanted to do
with families, which was to work with them and to help strengthen them rather than to be
primarily a policing agent.
But resistance to the idea was reported from several individual professionals in partner
agencies with some indication that this was a problem that usually diminished through
training in Signs of Safety and through experience. However, in the heightened anxiety
caused by COVID-19 and the disruption to the usual ways of monitoring and protecting
children, there were several comments from social workers on being challenged about the
adequacy of safety plans involving networks. COVID-19 also led to the opposite reaction: of
partner agencies accepting network involvement because they knew that alternative avenues of help were so limited.

28

Page 48

ANXIETY ABOUT USING NETWORKS TO PROVIDE SAFETY
Child safety is important to us all and it is a sector where professionals have experienced
harsh criticism from the public for failing to protect a child. This has created some degree of
defensiveness in decision making where the option that avoids the possibility of blame may
be chosen despite reasons for considering another option would be better for the child. A
clear example of a decision that can provoke defensiveness is when removal of a child is being considered. Removal of the child is unlikely to trigger blame and for many social workers
creates less anxiety, in part because the situation now feels more controllable but leaving the
child with their family feel more precarious because blame is likely if the child later experiences harm. But as one respondent said: ‘When the risk leaves you, it then tends to go with
the child about whether they get good care in alternative care’. Introducing networks to such
an anxious context can cause anxiety and represents a significant shift in culture.
The rationale for using networks in Signs of Safety is explained in detail in Appendix A but,
here, relevant points are:
Though undeniably obvious, involving naturally connected people is a profound paradigm
and culture shift for professional child protection agencies and is challenging in many ways.
Child protection services have a propensity to focus on involving professionals with vulnerable families often and in part because this is perceived to be more manageable and achievable than the involvement of naturally occurring networks.
Within the Signs of Safety involving an informed naturally connected network around the
children and their family of original is key to minimising professional involvement and to creating an effective everyday safety plan because these are the people who have critical insider
knowledge about daily life for the children and family. Child psychiatrist Tilman Furniss succinctly stated that ‘child abuse is a syndrome of secrecy’. It is essential therefore that for the
naturally occurring network to be effective in adopting responsibility for the child’s continuing
care and safety they must be fully informed of the concerns that have brought children’s services into the family’s life. (Turnell, 2021)
The change to risk management implicit in this was described by one manager as:
It moved us from an idealised view of child protection in which you removed the risk or the
child to this wonderful vacuum in which every individual with whom they had contact was
benign. We’re not talking about perfect safety — my children don’t have perfect safety, they
do a 10–mile commute to school in a car so they have everyday safety.
‘Everyday safety’ captures the reality for all children that there are dangers in the world that
the most protective parent cannot shield them from and, indeed, by being highly protective
the parent may restrict the child’s life so much that they harm their development, diminishing
their ability to learn to manage the hazards of life.
Networks however are a new concept for many and so many are anxious about using them,
raising objections to safety plans.
I come across that [pushback] quite a lot, especially professionals who don’t know Signs of
Safety who possibly look at us like we’re crazy when we are trying to develop networks and
safety plans. But yes, I think a lot of colleagues come across that as well, and it’s nice to hear
their shared experience so you know it’s not just you.

Page 49

29

COVID-19 RESPONSE
We’re seeing a lot of professionals scaling quite low [on the safety of the child] on the basis
that it’s a family-led plan. And we’re like, ‘That’s the point. That’s the purpose. We’ve got the
family to come together, develop their own plan that they think is realistic, and we actually
agree will keep the child safe. They’ve took complete ownership of it, they’re more likely to follow it. Where’s the concern?’…’Well, they’re not doing the freedom program’…’Well, how does
the freedom program keep this child safe? And it’s that whole, ‘It’s family-led, that’s really
concerning. Where’s the professional oversight?’…’You’re a school. You have some oversight,
you see this child five days a week potentially. Or have contact with them multiple times during the week during term times you’re there.’
But yes, I think some of the difficulties we’ve had were around not appreciating how the network will help manage risk. I think they feel that by allowing the network to take over some
of that, that that somehow lessens safety around the child rather than increases it. I think we
still do have some professionals that just haven’t embraced it in the language that they use,
in the approach that they use, and I think staff are getting more confident and are trying to
challenge that in a way that is helpful.
We’ve seen that [pushback] quite a lot especially around the time where you’re looking at
ending involvement or you’re looking at stepping down from child protection to child in need,
or child in need to early help, I think there is a lot of pushback. We’ve seen it quite a lot from
some schools in particular around…I think there’s just some professionals in particular have
moved forward and have adapted really well to Signs of Safety, and other professionals have
struggled to grasp the concept of it, and that’s evident through a lot of the push back we’re
seeing…From my experience, it comes down to individual judgments and attitudes, I think,
especially around things like PLO [Public Law Outline]. An example that pops straight in my
mind is a school where there were some worries but the network stepped in and the safety
plans were followed but the school was up in arms, ‘But there’s been an incident, we need
to be thinking about getting legal advice going down the PLO route’. And our argument was,
actually the network and the safety plan has worked — these children are being kept safe.
I think there’s a lot of examples we do see quite a lot [of pushback]. We’ve got quite a lot of
unborns at the minute where substance misuse is a big issue. We’ve just had a baby born
where there were positive samples during pregnancy for cocaine. A lot of work was done
with the family, they referred over quite early on and we had a lot of evidence of that work
being successful. Mum had been really insightful into the worries, the coping mechanisms
that she’d used in the past. We had a period of negative samples being provided but we had
a network who were aware of the worries and who were all working together to try and work
with the family to reduce the risks. We had a child already in parents’ care, there would have
been no worries around the care afforded that child, it was all coming down to the toxicology
samples. And again, I think the pushback from Health was significant around ‘Yes, but, this
baby has been placed at risk because there’s been drug misuse’, so there’s a lot of pushback
with that one, but it was managed under child in need. There’s babies being born where there
are network members or professionals visiting every day, there are no worries and everyone
is thinking about what our role is moving forward, because a lot of the work’s already been
done at this early stage.

Heightened anxiety and COVID-19
The pandemic and associated restrictions make children less visible so professionals have
increased anxiety about their safety.

30

Page 50

ANXIETY ABOUT USING NETWORKS TO PROVIDE SAFETY
It’s very challenging for workers, particularly very child-focused workers who have worries
about cases that they’re managing, because to not physically see someone, and we’ve had
lots of conversations and discussions about this in terms of what you see on the screen —
you’re not seeing the messy living room behind or the things that you would normally pick up
on or observe if you did that face-to-face visit.
I will be open about, you know, this period for me in the role I’m in has been the most anxious
in my career. I’m scared about what are we missing and what are we not seeing? That’s not
about the ability or the capability of practitioners — that work feels safer to me — it’s what
isn’t in the system.
Some who had been hesitant about relying on networks became more positive about them
because so little else was available.
I think some agencies have probably become more agreeable to it since the pandemic because they’re starting to realise that sometimes that’s the only support network that people
have. And when you’ve got, say, a grandmother who’s going out every day to check up on
children and just check in and see how they are, other agencies are seeing the impact of that
and seeing that it can work. So I think in my experience people are more positive about them
than previously. I think there was some still some reluctance about relying on that solely and
not having our involvement for longer periods of time.
We’ve had a number of struggles. More often with partners, so some of our safety planning
involving networks I would say that there was…Strategically, I started having conversations with strategic leads from CAMHS, strategic leads from the police, strategic leads from
health, and at that senior level with a number of meetings that I had, they were in agreement. Particularly CAMHS, ‘cause CAMHS are just under meltdown, there’s no way that they
could bring as many children in, they haven’t got the beds to bring as many children in to
kind of resolve the problems. So, they were really accepting at that most senior level that
we need to be working more with families and networks and building that resilience and
building that sustainability.
Although the comments on pushback are presented in a negative light by respondents in the
research, critics also have a positive function in challenging the soundness of a safety plan,
leading the social worker, family and network to make their reasoning clearer and to review
it. Networks are not always effective or workable and some degree of caution and questioning
is valuable.

Moving toward a learning rather than a blame culture
In order to reduce defensive practice, an organisation has to shift from a culture of being
quick to blame to one that judges the management of cases that lead to an adverse outcome
by examining the reasoning behind the decisions, not with the benefit of hindsight that makes
whatever happened look as if it was obviously what was going to occur. There was evidence
that the four authorities were seeking to create a more just and learning culture where workers could keep the focus on the child and not on covering their backs.

Page 51

31

COVID-19 RESPONSE
Previous senior managers were much more punitive, we are much more learning-focused
really. We recognise that people make mistakes, but we learn from those mistakes and we
have started having more learning reviews. I was having a conversation with my manager the
other day, who’s the assistant director, because we had a child death. It was believed to be
a cot death but straight away there’s this ‘oh, we need an audit’. But it’s not really helpful to
staff when they know that straightaway senior managers are saying we need an audit. We
need to rephrase that to ‘we need to understand’ because what they really want is a sort of
overview to give them a summary of the case, what the issues were and what was happening
on the case. So we are trying to move away from that appreciation that if something awful
happens on a case, the first thing we senior managers do is ‘we need an audit, let’s look for
where things have gone wrong and then deal with it’. Where actually, yes, we have to do more
learning. We had a fabricated illness case that didn’t go quite as we would have liked, and
the chair flagged up and said ‘You know what? There’s a lot we can learn from this’. So we
had an independent chair, the professionals involved and we did a piece of work about what
could we have done differently and what can we learn from this and then use that.
The greater availability of senior managers during the lockdown has been seen in their increased offer of help with difficult practice decisions which thus shares the responsibility.
Having managerial backing for the use of networks and safety plans that looked so different
from those everyone was used to was mentioned frequently as important.
There has been a cultural shift. A significant one to me, and if your senior managers don’t
endorse that message, it would be very hard for people at the frontline to work with it.
I do feel supported by my manager and I think if something did happen you can guarantee
she would be able to reel conversations off because we do talk about our cases in depth, so
I’d be quite confident she would — unless I’ve done something I shouldn’t of — she would
support me.
I know my manager, my practice supervisor, and team manager are very good at unpicking
that decision making. So if you are feeling underconfident about that decision or you do think
there’s a level of risk, they’re very good at unpicking that and helping you feel confident of
why we’re making that decision at that time and how you’re going to make sure that’s recorded and backed up. But I do appreciate that it’s not the same for everyone across the county
and it is very dependent.
I also feel that I’m given the autonomy to make those decisions and nobody is going to come
back to me and say ‘What the heck have you decided that for? That’s a load of rubbish’.
They’re just going to be, ‘Tell me a little bit more about this. Tell me about your thinking on
this. Why do you think it needs to be like this?’ And then they’ll respect my decisions, even if
something else is decided in the end, that’s still going to be put on as my professional judgment. So I feel really well covered and secure in decision making.
In summary, involving networks is a paradigm shift in children’s social care and it creates
anxiety as a novel way of keeping children safe. For the shift to occur, leaders need to show
that they understand it and support the practice while encouraging a spirit of inquiry over the
decisions by having mechanisms for sharing and reviewing decisions and plans.

32

Page 52

PERFORMANCE DATA
7. Performance data
We are able to report on the performance data for the four local authorities for the period of the
study — March 2020 – March 2021. Data gathering and analysis considered a core set of indicators (Contacts, Referrals, Child in Need, Child Protection, and Children Looked After — number
and rate) over the period March to November 2020. This was compared with equivalent numbers and rates for the same period the previous year. Statements regarding percentage change
relate to an average of CiN/CP/CLA rates during the two periods and their comparison.
It is recognised this is a limited data set and any conclusions, as they relate to the effectiveness
and impact of network involvement, will be tentative, as each authority and local area will have
a range of other factors that determine demand and the extent of statutory involvement. It
would be useful to compare these authorities with national and regional data, but this has not
yet been published. We can identify correlations between the authorities with an established
record of using networks having lower rates of children on child protection plans but more
study is needed to determine whether one can claim a causal connection.

Contacts
All authorities received fewer contacts with concerns about child safeguarding when compared
to the same period the previous year. This is to be expected, given the nature of the lockdown
and fewer professionals having ‘eyes on’ children and young people, and resonates with the
premise of the research. The largest reduction in contacts was 12%, evidenced by Authority A.

Referrals
All but one authority (B) have also seen a reduction in referrals compared to the same period
the previous year. This is slightly surprising, as you might expect that those contacts that have
been made would potentially have been the ‘higher end’ concerns, which would result in a referral for social work assessment.

Child in Need rate per 10K
Two out of four authorities have increased their CiN rate (D and B), whilst two out of four have
decreased their CiN rate. One of the authorities with an increased CiN rate is also the authority
with an increase in referrals (B), which would be expected as a correlation. One of the authorities with a decreased CiN rate is also the authority with a reduction in contacts and referrals,
which again would be expected as correlation.

Child Protection Plans rate per 10K
All authorities involved in the research have evidenced an increase in rate per 10,0000 of children subject to Child Protection Plans during the pandemic in comparison to the same period
in 2019/20.
At the start of the pandemic, there were very varied rates of children on child protection plans.
Authority B had the second highest number of children in need but a low rate of child protection
plans. D with the highest rate in March 2020 showed a 39% increase in children on plans. B,
with a low starting point, had a 20% increase. C, with a moderate previous rate, and A, with a

Page 53

33

COVID-19 RESPONSE
low previous rate, showed very modest increases.

Rate per 10,000 children subject to Child Protection Plans, average % monthly change

Rate per 10,000 children subject to Child Protection Plans, average % change 2020/21 in comparison to 2019/20

The two authorities with the biggest increase in CP rate (D and B) are also the two authorities
with the biggest increases in CiN rate, although this is not as significant an increase as that of
CP. One of these authorities is viewed as being relatively advanced in its approach to networks,
whilst the other is viewed as being in its early days regarding networks. The latter authority has
seen an increase across CiN, CP and CLA.

Children looked after rate per 10K
Only one authority (B) has seen a reduction in CLA rate, although no authority has seen a double-digit average percentage increase in CLA rate (the highest being 8%), an increase is evidenced, although a smaller increase in comparison to the increase in child protection plans (as

34

Page 54

PERFORMANCE DATA
referenced in chart below).
The two authorities with the biggest increase in CP rate (D and B) are also the two authorities
with the biggest increases in CiN rate, although this is not as significant an increase as that of
CP. One of these authorities is viewed as being relatively advanced in its approach to networks,
whilst the other is viewed as being in its early days regarding networks. The latter authority has
seen an increase across CiN, CP and CLA.

Average % change of child protection plan and children looked after, rate per 10,000

D has seen the highest overall increase in statutory involvement (CiN, CP and CLA), with also
the highest percentage increase for each of CiN, CP and CLA of all four authorities. This is
alongside very limited change to initial contacts received and those referred for assessment.
A has seen the smallest increase in statutory involvement (CiN, CP and CLA), but this is in the
context of the highest percentage decreases of contacts and referrals out of all authorities. So,
the conversion rate is likely higher than for other authorities.
C has seen the least volatility in terms of demand and statutory involvement. This authority is
also viewed as being advanced in its approach to networks. This may be a contributory factor
to the only marginal increases in CP and CLA (whilst CiN marginally reduced).
B is the only authority to reduce its CLA rate. However, B has also seen a significant increase in
its CP rate. This authority is viewed as being relatively advanced in its approach to networks,
which may help explain the ability to not increase its CLA rate, with more children continuing
to be supported at CP.

Page 55

35

COVID-19 RESPONSE
8. Conclusion
The research question was:
How can practitioners use the network around a child — such as extended family members,
neighbours and other community members — to assist in building safety when professional
support becomes more restricted during a pandemic?
The evidence we have collected illustrates how networks can be used during a pandemic and
how they contribute to helping families and building children’s safety. The motivation for this
research came from the experience of one local authority that was using networks before the
pandemic as one strategy for improving the safety and well-being of children and young people and found that they continued to function well during the COVID-19 lockdown when other
sources of help for families were restricted or absent. A similar picture was found in the other
local authority that had been using networks extensively before the pandemic. The other two
authorities had made little use of networks but began a focused effort to train and support
practitioners in using them during the pandemic.
In seeking to find out how networks are being used, we have explored how the pandemic altered
practitioners’ daily working conditions and what, within these novel circumstances, helped or
hindered them in creating and working with networks and using them to help learn about and
respond to any evidence of harm or danger of harm.

How the local authority organisations responded to lockdown
The COVID-19 pandemic is a low probability/high impact event. The possibility of a major health
incident of this nature appears in national and local authorities’ risk registers. While the precise
details of the threat it poses could not be predicted, the general features of coronaviruses were
known and planning was possible. However, at the national level there were some deficiencies
in implementing the plans that affected the local authorities, such as the national shortage
of PPE. Indeed, crucial details about the virus and its impact on human beings were not clear
at the beginning of the pandemic and the mortality, morbidity and transmissibility rates are
not constant but changing as health care improves some features and virus mutations make
some others worse. The pandemic therefore falls outside the range of expected and planned
for disturbances and tests the resilience of the organisation in the sense of testing its ability to
respond to a novel threat (Woods 2015).
Besides facing a pandemic with little preparation for the specific problems COVID-19 created,
the local authorities were poorly prepared in that there was little slack in the system. Organisations with some redundancy have back-ups and duplication which help their functioning when
deal with an extreme event (Grabowski 1997). After 12 years of funding cuts, local authorities
did not have this extra capacity. The degree of success that they have achieved in adapting
to the threat is, in part, due to staff undertaking additional work at some cost to their own
well-being, as evidenced by the numerous comments we heard on the personal negative impact of working during the pandemic.
There is an extensive literature on what helps or hinders in organisational responses to novel
disturbances to normal functioning and three of the features considered to be constructive
were particularly apparent in the responses of the four CSCs: flexibility, maintaining continuity
and creating a shared understanding of how the service was functioning.

36

Page 56

CONCLUSION
(a) flexibility: research on how organisations respond to such novel threats has found that
command-and-control systems do not work well. People are working in conditions that are
changing from routine to novel and so are needing to make decisions and act in novel ways.
Flexibility not rigidity is needed as is creativity to find solutions within the resources still available to them.
All the local authorities showed evidence of such flexibility. The provision of the practical supports for home and online working was achieved in ways that bypassed the usual managerial
decision making structures in order to achieve speed. Within the Children’s Social Care departments, flexibility was strongly apparent in managerial and front line work.
For those undertaking direct work with families and networks, this study found countless examples of creative adaptations so that the core tasks could still be carried out. To some degree,
this is not new: social work is a personal social service and providing it always involves some
degree as creativity as the general knowledge and skills is adapted for each family’s needs.
However, the circumstances of lockdown undoubtedly led to greater use of imagination in finding solutions to disruptions in the usual way of functioning.
There was also evidence of creativity on the part of the networks in finding ways of monitoring
and protecting children.
(b) maintaining continuity: while so much change was made to day-to-day working conditions, there were examples of people keeping the core features of the service working. At
the team level, efforts were made to maintain the intellectual and emotional support each
received from their team. Managers sought to maintain support for practice, including their
pre-existing plans to improve it, and to monitor practice.
(c) creating a shared understanding of how the service was functioning: with such radical upheavals in their normal working conditions, senior managers saw the importance of increased
dialogue with staff so that they learned about what was happening at each layer in the organisation and kept everyone informed about the big picture of the changes being made.

Using networks
The four CSCs were at differing stages in implementing Signs of Safety and the use of networks.
In two, the use of networks were well established in at least the child in need and child protection teams. In the other two, networks were not a standard expectation but their value in a
pandemic led the senior managers to make a focused effort to develop skill and opportunity for
using them. To further this aim, they were following the Signs of Safety organisational Theory
of Change in changing a number of features: the IT software, the QA process, providing on-going learning opportunities, expert support on individual cases and shared decision making on
major decisions.
As the virtual working became common research participants described the following benefits
involving support networks:
• More contact with extended family members and a greater capacity to involve
more people
• No travel and child-care problems
• WhatsApp found to be consistently very useful for families because of ease of use

Page 57

37

COVID-19 RESPONSE
• WhatsApp was used to document actions people were taking in seeing the children, supporting the family and checking the children were okay
• Workers learned skills of leading mapping and safety planning meetings with parents
and support people
• Some reported that children and particularly teenagers liked the contact through Messenger or WhatsApp because it was more what they are used to
• Workers were able to draw on the two-household ‘bubble’ arrangement to build the network and for them to take on the role of checking in with the child
• Families and their networks increased their virtual contact with each other
The most common challenges and difficulties were
• Online contact was easier where a relationship was already established
• Having conversations with children in the home raised concerns about whether the children could speak openly. Some practitioners got around this by getting children to do
written work and then sending it through to or showing the worker
• Not being able to be in the home and see the environment
Organisational and leadership support was said to be vital by practitioners. This included:
• Increased contact by leaders with practitioners and teams
• Practical support in providing required hardware and in setting up home offices
• Training and support in use of virtual working with families and in teams
• Workers reported that the lack of face-to-face contact was hard and that regular catch
ups and checking in virtually or by phone was very important, both to maintain connection with colleagues and also when needing help with casework
• Continued provision of training opportunities
Since protecting and safeguarding children are multi-agency responsibilities, changing the way
social workers operate needs to be communicated to partner agencies and, ideally, their support won. However, the sector has had a culture of seeing children’s safety being provided by
professional plans and professional services so the use of networks and encouraging families
to take the lead in creating a safety plan are different ways of managing the uncertainties and
dangers in the work. This always arouses anxiety in some, but the level of anxiety seemed even
greater in this study probably due to professionals having a justifiably greater anxiety in general about the safety and well-being of children during the lockdown. This led to pushback from
partner agencies so social workers needed to explain and justify their actions more, with some
fear of being blamed if anything adverse occurred.

What the performance data tells us
The data provides a very varied picture with the two local authorities in which networks were
well used before the pandemic being generally lower on all measures both before and during

38

Page 58

CONCLUSION
the period of study than the two that only focused specifically on implementing the use of networks during the pandemic. However, a causal link cannot be drawn at this stage. Both a longer
period of study and comparison with regional and national data are needed to show whether or
not this is just a chance correlation.

An opportunity for learning
The pandemic has forced the CSCs to adapt to the unusual circumstances in which they have to
operate. When the worst impacts have diminished, there will be some who want life to return
to normal. However, the experience can also be viewed as an opportunity for learning and there
was evidence that people were already thinking about what can be gained from the experience.
Several people thought that it would be useful to keep online communications as an option.
Some children and young people said they preferred keeping in touch with their social worker
this way and so it would be useful to offer them the choice. Also, enabling some people to attend multi-agency meetings online would be welcomed since it eliminated travel time which
could deter busy professionals. The online option for network members was also seen as a
valuable development, enabling people who did not live locally but were important in a family’s
life to play a useful role. The relative merits of in-person or virtual contact need to be appraised
relative to the professional purpose of the contact.
Another area of learning is in the use of networks themselves. For two of the four CSCs studied,
their use was increased during the pandemic, motivated in part by the reduction in professional services, and both plan to continue using them when restrictions are lifted.
A final consideration is that the experience of giving social workers more flexibility and encouraging creativity has shown how constructive this has been in finding new ways of working with
children, families and networks to protect and support children. To quote one senior manager:
I think sometimes and historically, we’ve potentially under estimated or not given our workers
the permission to be as creative and flexible as they could be, and now they’ve got that permission by default because it’s the only way to do it.
This is a small scale, qualitative study and so its conclusions are tentative. The key question is
whether networks make a worthwhile contribution to improving children’s safety and well-being and, while the performance data from these authorities is consistent with this conclusion,
the hypothesis needs further testing. However, this study also shows how ‘using Signs of Safety’
does not in itself provide sufficient information on whether the use of networks is being done in
accordance with the Theory of Change.

Page 59

39

COVID-19 RESPONSE

References
Dalkin, S. M., Greenhalgh, J., Jones, D., Cunningham, B., & Lhussier, M. (2015). What’s in a
mechanism? Development of a key concept in realist evaluation. Implementation Science, 10
(1), 1-7.
Grabowski, M., & Roberts, K. (1997). Risk mitigation in large-scale systems: Lessons from high
reliability organizations. California Management Review, 39(4), 152-161.
HM Government (2019) Indices of Deprivation. Ministry of Housing, Communities and Local
Government.
NSPCC (2020) Almost 7,000 Childline counselling sessions about the impact of COVID-19,
downloaded from: https://www.nspcc.org.uk/about-us/news-opinion/2020/childline-coronavirus-counselling/
Pawson, R. (2006). Evidence-based Policy: A Realist Perspective. London: Sage.
Sidpra, J., Abomeli, D., Hameed, B., Baker, J., & Mankad, K. (2020). Rise in the incidence of
abusive head trauma during the COVID-19 pandemic. Archives of Disease in Childhood, Online
first.
Turnell, A. and Murphy, T. (2017). Signs of Safety: Comprehensive Briefing Paper. Perth: Elia
International Ltd.
Woods, D. D. (2015). Four concepts for resilience and the implications for the future of resilience engineering. Reliability Engineering & System Safety, 141, 5-9.

40

Page 60

APPENDIX A

Appendix A: Involving Naturally
Occurring Safety Networks in Child
Protection casework
Andrew Turnell
The wisdom of the oft quoted African saying, ‘It takes a village to raise a child’ is the foundation
of childcare in traditional cultures and well recognised in developed countries. The aspiration
that children’s services should do everything possible to maintain a child’s connections to their
family and community is also enshrined in the child protection legislation of almost all countries with established children’s services systems. A child who is connected to many people
that care and are involved with them will almost always have a better life experience and be
safer than an isolated child.
The Signs of Safety seeks always to involve everybody that has natural connections to the children to most effectively build lasting safety and healing, therefore the stated purpose of the
Signs of Safety is:

To enable child protection agencies to deliver all their services with a rigorous focus on child
safety and wellbeing and to set up their practice, policy, procedures and organisation so that
the practitioners can do everything possible to put the parents, children and everyone naturally connected to the children at the centre of the assessment, decision-making, giving them
every opportunity to come up with and apply their solutions before the professionals offer or
impose theirs. Full involvement of family and network is always pursued, whether the child
lives within or outside their family and kin, so that everything is done to sustain the child’s
lifelong connection with their family, culture and community of origin throughout children’s
services involvement.
The aspiration to involve every possible person who has natural connections to the child including kin, friends, neighbours and professionals such as teachers, family doctor, etc., is an
obvious proposition since these are the people who have primary interest in, and responsibility

Page 61

41

COVID-19 RESPONSE
for, the child. Every child deserves to be connected to their family and community of origin.
However, for so many children in care, the professional system fractures or extinguishes their
connections to their immediate family, kin and community of origin.
Though undeniably obvious, involving naturally connected people is a profound paradigm and
culture shift for professional child protection agencies and is challenging in many ways. Child
protection services have a propensity to focus on involving professionals with vulnerable families, often and in part because this is perceived to be more manageable and achievable than
the involvement of naturally occurring networks.
Within the Signs of Safety, involving an informed naturally connected network around the children and their family of origin is key to minimising professional involvement and to creating an
effective everyday safety plan because these are the people who have critical insider knowledge about daily life for the children and family.
Child psychiatrist Tilman Furniss succinctly stated that ‘child abuse is a syndrome of secrecy’.
To be effective in adopting responsibility for the child’s continuing care and safety, it is essential
therefore that all members of the safety network are fully informed of the concerns that have
brought children’s services into the family’s life.
The Signs of Safety approach utilises a range of practical methods to openly discuss the problems and to break the secrecy and shame that typically surround situations of child abuse:
• Plain language risk assessment within the Signs of Safety mapping
• My Three Houses work with the child (the child’s experience for the family and
safety network)
• Words and Pictures explanation (the parent’s explanation prepared with children’s services about the child maltreatment issues for the child)

42

Page 62

APPENDIX A
The Signs of Safety utilises a range of methods to find and build naturally occurring safety networks around the child and their immediate family including:
• Family Safety Circles tool
• Network Finding Matrix
• Genogram and Eco-mapping
• Various methods drawn from Family Finding (Koziolek, 2020).

People
Th

People
They Are Willing
to Involve

ed
olving
Inv

ey Don’t Want I
h
T
nvo
e
pl
o
lv
e
P
h
i
n
T
k
d
A
l
u
b
out
Wo
ey

Family Safety Circles Tool

Within the Signs of Safety, involving an informed naturally connected network around the children and their family of origin is key to creating an effective everyday safety plan detailing who
will do what to ensure the child is safe and well looked after even when there are problems and
danger present.
The Signs of Safety utilises a range of methods and tools to create lasting, family-owned, detailed safety plans with the immediate and extended family and the naturally occurring safety
network, including:
• Safety planning preparation worksheet
• Safety Journal
• Child’s Safety Object
• Age appropriate Words and Pictures Safety Plan

Page 63

43

COVID-19 RESPONSE

Age-appropriate Words and Pictures Safety Plan

Further Reading:
Koziolek, D. (2020). Family finding tools. Available at: https://www.safetyplanning.org/index.
php/en-us/2-knowing/135-family-finding-tools
Turnell, A. (2013). Safety planning workbook. Elia International, Perth. Available at: https://
knowledgebank.signsofsafety.net
Turnell, A. and Essex, S. (2006). ‘Creating an informed safety network around the family’,
Chapter Seven: pp 104-110, in Working with ‘denied’ child abuse: the resolutions approach.
Buckingham: Open University Press.
Turnell, A. and Essex, S. (2013). It takes a village: placing grandparents and extended family at
the centre of safeguarding vulnerable children, in David Pitcher (ed.) Inside kinship care: understanding family dynamics and providing effective support, London: Jessica Kingsley.

44

Page 64

APPENDIX B

Appendix B: North Tyneside
Risk assessment for home visits
1.

Home visiting should still be based on a necessity test undertaken by a Team Manager/
Leader which is as follows:

In deciding on the necessity of a Manager should have regard to:
i.

The value of the home visit in:
a. progressing the case work (a judgment as to whether the work could be progressed in
other ways, such as virtually, to achieve the same effect)
b. building relationships to bring about change (will the visit to the home during COVID
promote or damage the relationship)
c. Establishing the welfare of the child, including the context of care such as home conditions (a judgment will need to be taken whether this could be achieved through other
means)
d. The context of the child or young person (for example where the engagement of the
family has been poorer than we would have wanted; children are not going to school;
children are known to be Young Carers, children are known to go missing or be subject
to MSET)
e. Being able to have a face-to-face conversation with the child or young person to support their emotional wellbeing, would be beneficial and preferable to the child or young
person.

ii. The duration since the last home visit to the child or young person (when would visiting
have occurred and how long outside of this timescale has it been)
iii. The priority of the home visit in relation to other visits (judging the backlog of casework
to establish when a visit should take place)
2. If a Team Manager/Leader, having considered all the above, deems it ‘necessary’ then a
visit should go ahead subject to the following checks by the worker established by the
longstanding Operational Guidance:
• All workers must wear a surgical mask for the duration of any direct work with children,
young people, parents or carers and remain 2 metres apart, where ever possible;
• Where a visit is deemed necessary by a Team Manager/Leader, prior to the visit, the
worker must telephone the parent or carer in advance to establish whether the child,
parent, carer or other member of the household or any member of the household is
self-isolating or social distancing, has the symptoms or has been diagnosed with COVID-19;
• If there are no self-reported symptoms, a visit should go ahead, where possible with
social distancing of 2 metres such as seeing the child or young person at the door rather

Page 65

45

COVID-19 RESPONSE
than entering the home. Where it is not possible to socially distance and/or essential to
access the home (for example to see home conditions), it may be necessary to ask the
household to stay in one room whilst observation of the home is undertaken and then
any conversation undertaken with appropriate distancing. As we would in normal circumstances, please continue to wear disposable gloves when conducting inspections of
bedding, mattresses, clothes, etc. where there might be the possibility of coming into
contact with bodily fluids;
• Where it is not essential to meet in the home, the worker should try and meet in a COVID-secure building such as a school or outside;
• Where it is self-reported that a child or young person or their parent or carer or other
member of the household is self-isolating, has the symptoms or has been diagnosed with
COVID-19, unless it is deemed absolutely essential, NO home visit should take place;
• If not undertaking this visit may lead to a credible risk of imminent harm to a child or
young person, consideration should be given as to whether, in the judgment of a Team
Manager/Leader, it is absolutely essential that a child or young person needs to be seen.
Where it is deemed that a visit is necessary, a worker will need to attend the home and
speak to a child or young person using Full Personal Protection Equipment (Full PPE required — disposable gloves, disposable plastic apron, fluid resistant surgical facemask
(include eye protection if client is coughing or sneezing);
• Practitioners should not visit a home where there is a Clinically Extremely Vulnerable
household member (the definition of CEV can be found here) unless there is a credible
risk of imminent harm to a child or young person within the home.

46

Page 66

Page 67

Published by Elia International Ltd
COM 1/153 Kensington Street
East Perth WA 6004
Australia
www.elia.ngo

Page 68

Covid-19 Response
Executive Summary

Page 69

What helps and hinders practitioners build safety
through naturally connected networks during a
pandemic when professional contact is limited?

Under the conditions of COVID-19, direct
professional involvement with families and
children in statutory social care services has
been significantly reduced. This led to local
authorities having to think about how they
can work with, and support, children, young
people and their families in different ways.
There are many ways in which this has been
approached. An increasing number of
practice models and approaches focus on
identifying and utilising naturally connected
support networks. In North Tyneside we are
passionately committed to the Signs of
Safety model of practice and are on a
continued journey with its implementation,
including embedding the use of networks.

The purpose of this research was not to
advocate for Signs of Safety, nor any
particular model of practice, but rather to
explore how and whether finding and
involving networks in building safety had a
demonstrable impact on our ability to keep
children safe during the lockdown. We
wanted to explore this further and see
whether there were lessons for the sector.
We are very grateful to Eileen Munro, Marie

Page 70
2

We are very grateful to Eileen Munro, Marie
Devine, and Andrew Turnell, for advising on,
and carrying out the primary research with
the participant local authorities. We are
particularly grateful to the three authorities
that agreed to be involved in the research;
we know all too well the operational challenges that children’s services face on a
daily basis, not least during a global
pandemic, so we are very appreciative that
authorities saw the value of the research
and were able to release staff to be
involved.
Just as in North Tyneside, many authorities
will have taken stock of how they adapted,
what worked well, what didn’t work so well,
and what practice they want to retain.
Each authority has its own unique set of
circumstances – the place, demography,
wider organisation, and partnerships.
Therefore, each authority will wish to
understand their own situation, how they
can learn, improve and develop the way in
which they work and, ultimately, how they
best support, create safety, and improve
outcomes for children and young people.

However, we do hope that this research
will unearth some common themes and
opportunities that local authorities can
incorporate into their recovery and transition
planning from the Covid-19 pandemic.
Further, whilst we set out to understand how
children’s services practitioners involved
networks around a child to build safety,
what can clearly be seen from the report is
that this was only achievable through a
combination of wider organisational and
leadership determinants. Therefore, this
report is not solely aimed at social work
professionals but also at wider local
authority leaders who can influence and
shape the environment which allows social
work to flourish.
We also want to stress that the findings are
not only of relevance to authorities that use
the Signs of Safety model of practice. We
hope that every authority can identify with
the findings and can see opportunities in
the recommendations made.

There are a wide range of reports that have
been written about the way in which local
authorities have responded to the impact of
COVID-19, and there will be many more to
be written. We did not set out to, nor do we
intend to, replicate those reports and the
key learning derived.

Page 71
3

Key findings from a local authority perspective
In this section, we have attempted to summarise the key themes and learning
from the perspective of a local authority – we have thought about what we have
taken from the study and the key learning that we will seek to capitalise on.

Organisational Readiness and Response
There was strong and consistent feedback from practitioners that they felt
best able to do their crucial job when their organisation ensured they had
the right ICT kit to work remotely, and the right software and supporting
technology to interact with colleagues and customers. Some authorities
were already well placed for this when the pandemic struck; others had to
act and invest quickly. We are confident that, more than one year on from
the lockdown commencing, most (if not all) authorities have taken the
necessary steps in this regard. The learning, therefore, is that authorities
should always ensure they are horizon scanning and planning ahead to
invest in the right technology, not waiting for a crisis to force them into
action. Where strong foundations of good quality social work practice
are in place, this will enable local authorities to quickly adapt to new
ways of working.

Formal and Informal Support
Staff reported feeling particularly well supported when significant effort was
made by leaders, managers and colleagues to support them, and each
other, during the pandemic. This included less ‘formal’ support, such as
weekly emails from senior leaders and virtual team ‘coffee breaks’, as well
as more formal mechanisms, such as more frequent (but shorter) team
meetings and continued effective supervision. This was true not only of
frontline practitioners but managers at all levels. Whilst authorities have,
rightly, focused on ensuring frontline staff have been effectively supported
during this period, it is also clear that supervisors, team and senior
managers (who often have a less defined ‘team’ structure around
them) will have felt isolated during this period and, where they
have benefited from the same level of support, this has been
positive. A positive culture of feedback, encouragement and
continual learning has been evidenced and perceived as valuable.

Page 72
4

Key findings from a local
authority perspective

Use of Technology
The increased use of technology so that practitioners could interact with
children, young people, their families and networks in different ways has
clearly been a positive of practice during the pandemic. It has also brought
an ability to broaden networks and involve more people in building safety
around a child, particularly those that live a further distance away.
The more informal nature of using different tools has also proved beneficia
in terms of engagement, with the ability for practitioners to virtually ‘drop in’
for an update more easily. Some tools were reported to be more effective –
or more commonly used - than others from the authorities involved; however, the rapid development of new applications will likely mean that new
tools with different functionality and applicability will become available for
consideration in practice. Authorities should understand what works best,
keep an eye on what is out there, and support staff to apply these in
practice. Technology was equally as valuable for family and network
members to keep in contact with each other – strengthening network

Back to Basics
Whilst the use of technology has clearly presented a wider range of
opportunities for practitioners to engage with children, young people,
families and networks, the pandemic restrictions also forced practitioners to
revert to ‘old school’ practice. Examples of this included sending children
pens and paper, and asking them to draw or write how they were feeling
and returning this. The learning from this is that the method and approach
of engagement should best fit the individual child and their circumstances –
there is not a one size fits all approach, and the practitioner should rely
on their training, instinct and judgement to determine this.

Page 73
5

Recommendations
One of our main objectives from carrying out this research was to develop
recommendations that local authorities could incorporate into their recovery
planning and continuous improvement plans.

Drawing on the findings from the research, our own direct experience of working
through the pandemic, and learning from our sector-led improvement activity,
we have set out the following recommendations for local authorities to consider.

1.

Resist the temptation to uniformly revert to practice pre-pandemic,
and encourage practitioners to find the best methods to achieve
practice goals

1.1

Retain not only the risk-assessed approach to visits but also a value
judgement regarding other methods for working with children, young people,
families and networks

1.2

Continue the use of more informal, digital tools (for example, messaging
applications) to complement face-to-face methods of keeping in touch with
children, young people, families and networks

1.3

Encourage networks to utilise informal, digital tools to keep in touch with
thechild/young person

1.4

Don’t aim to default to digital at all costs; it is not the panacea and there
can be as much good practice available through ‘analogue’ means

1.5

Create a library of ‘creative’ practice that has been adopted by
practitioners during the pandemic and regularly share this across
the workforce to maximise its coverage and impact

Page 74
6

2.

Support practitioners to do their job and create the best virtual or hybrid
working environment

2.1

Where this hasn’t been done already, equip all frontline practitioners with a
tablet and a smartphone immediately

2.2

Agree the digital tools and software that the organisation / department will use,
and support all staff understand the full functionality, applicability, and
benefits of these in practice

2.3

Incorporate virtual working and virtual practice into workforce development
programmes, integrated with existing practice training

2.4

Where organisations expect to continue with homeworking or a hybrid model
for the medium-to-long-term, create or encourage informal virtual mechanisms
for teams to regularly keep in touch

2.5

Agree and communicate a clear organisational commitment to flexible
working, removing a perceived expectation that staff should be ‘at work’ at
fixed times

2.6

Introduce more regular but shorter team meetings

3.

Enable and provide clear leadership and management to support
practice, and particularly involvement of networks

3.1

As with practitioners, create regular and informal support mechanisms across
management teams

3.2

Create or enhance a shared understanding of the role and benefits of network
involvement across leadership teams, and communicate a clear commitment
to this

3.3

Train key partnership leads and decision-makers in the respective social work
practice model, and particularly use of networks, and develop a bank of
real-life examples of where the use of networks have effectively managed risk

3.4

Work with partners to share good practice and learning from virtual working
more generally, to encourage usage and increase uptake

3.5

Increase, or maintain the increased, regular communications and dialogue
between leaders and practitioners to celebrate good practice, understand
challenges, and secure continued commitment and continuous drive.

Page 75
7

North Tyneside Council
Quadrant
The Silverlink North
Cobalt Business Park
North Tyneside
NE27 0BY
www.northtyneside.gov.uk
June 2021

Page 76

Agenda Item 7

Meeting:

Children, Education and Skills Sub-Committee

Date:

8 July 2021

Title:

Serious Case Review, Jasmine

Author:

Sue Burns NTSCP Business
Manager

Service:

North Tyneside Safeguarding
Children’s Partnership

Wards
affected:

All

1.

Purpose of Report
To update the Committee on the learning from Serious Case Review (SCR) Jasmine,
published on 12 April 2021

2.

Introduction
The SCR was commissioned in July 2019 by North Tyneside Safeguarding Board (NTSCB)
in line with statutory guidance at that time. An Independent Reviewer was commissioned
to facilitate the review process and complete the report. The Review was completed in
September 2020 but could not be published until criminal proceedings had concluded.
The purpose of a SCR is to undertake a rigorous analysis of the contact Jasmine and her
family had with services to try and understand what happened and why. The organisations
responsible for services can then identify any lessons to be learnt which could be used to
improve services and reduce any future risk of harm to children and young people.

3.

Details
In June 2019 Jasmine, age 14 disclosed to school staff that her mother’s partner (referred
to as P) had sexually abused her the previous evening whilst her mother was at work, and
this had been happening for some time. She had previously made a disclosure of sexual
harm by P in March 2018 whilst living in North Tyneside.
The case was referred due to concern that after a short period of time the perpetrator
returned to the family home where he is alleged to have continued to commit further and
more serious sexual offences against Jasmine. The abuse took place against a significant
background history of inter familial abuse within the extended family,

Page 77

Brief History to the Case
Jasmine’s parents separated when she was eight years old and she lived with her mother,
grandmother, and mothers' partner, P. In 2016 her father was arrested for the sexual abuse
of Jasmine’s two half siblings. Mother was implicated and also arrested. Safeguarding
procedures were promptly initiated, and Jasmine was cared for by grandmother, mother
and P moving out of the home. An Interim Care Order was granted.
Mother was not charged with any offence. A parenting assessment and ‘capacity to protect’
assessment was completed and in October 2017 Jasmine was made subject to a 12-month
Supervision Order and mother and P returned home
In March 2018 Jasmine told school that P had touched her sexually and safeguarding
procedures were initiated. A safety plan put in place with mother and P moving out of the
home and grandmother caring for Jasmine. During interview Jasmine told police the abuse
had happened, but she did not want to assist with their enquiries or go to court. There was
no further police action against P and when mother advised they were going to move back
into the home, she was informed care proceedings would be considered.
Jasmine wrote to the social worker and said she had made the allegation up as she had
been in a ‘rage’. The Local Authority felt there was insufficient grounds to pursue legal
proceeding and mother and P returned home. In the summer of 2019, the family relocated
to a neighbouring LA area and Jasmine (still subject to a supervision Order until Oct 2018)
was enrolled at a new school. In June 2019 Jasmine told school staff that she had been
sexually abused by P and it had been happening for some time
The Findings
The Review Report identifies 7 findings, two of which relate specifically to Children’s
Social Care: Finding 1: Despite multi-agency concerns about mother’s perception and distorted thinking
about the kinds of people who abuse children, P, as mother’s partner and a significant male in
the family, was not viewed as a potential risk to Jasmine and consequently was never subject to
a risk assessment or any other assessment.
There was little professional curiosity about P and his background who was seen as a
supportive and caring figure by all family members. As in other national reviews, learning
suggest men are too often ignored by professionals despite playing a very important role
in children’s lives.
In response CSC have shared the learning point with teams and discussions are held in
case discussion and supervision sessions in respect of individual cases. They have
reviewed quality assurance processes for assessments to consider the inclusion of
significant males.
Finding 2: Agencies need to improve their knowledge and understanding about the threshold
criteria for granting Supervision Orders and their associate responsibilities to ensure these
orders are well executed in the child’s best interests. Without this, the needs of some highly
vulnerable children may be overlooked and not addressed.
The Review identified the Supervision Order (the legal power to visit Jasmine and her
family to ‘advise, assist and be friend’) was not appropriately prioritised by Children’s Social
Care (CSC) or fully understood by other agencies.

Page 78

In response to the finding, CSC have introduced a review process at team manager level,
of those children and young people subject to Supervision Orders. This will provide
strengthened oversight of this cohort of children. Cases are reviewed by Legal Gateway
prior to expiry to determine if an extension is necessary. To develop wider awareness, a
briefing note in relation to the role of supervision Orders has been shared across agencies.
Finding 3: (Single Agency: CSC) The system for providing quality, reflective supervision sessions
to practitioners and first tier managers in CSC should be reviewed to ensure that managers at
all levels comply with supervisory standards in relation to work with children, young people and
their families.
Actions by CSC include,
 Supervision training has taken place with all team managers in relation to the
principles of quality, effective and reflective supervision.
 Workshop for managers in relation to group supervision using the Signs of safety
methodology have taken place
 Supervision audit carried out, and a task and finish group have implemented the
recommendations, including changes to the supervision policy.
Finding 4: (Single Agency: CSC) Safety plans can be valid tools for removing or managing risks
that would otherwise make the children unsafe at home. Jasmines safety plan was not fit for
purpose as a longer-term measure. Without a process by which safety agreements are monitored
and reviewed as part of a multi-agency plan, they will not keep children safe, although they may
give the impression to some professionals of doing so.
Since the safety plan that was put in place for Jasmine (March 2018) significant work has
been completed by CSC to refine and develop their use. This is line with the continuing
journey to strengthen and embed the wider signs of Safety model in North Tyneside.
LCS, the electronic case file record has been updated to include a safety plan template
which details how the risks are managed and reviewed
Finding 5: (Single Agency: GP Practice) Neither GP1 nor GP2 confirmed with CSC what mother
had said about the alleged sexual abuse of Jasmine by P and some important safeguarding
information held in Jasmine’s records was not included in mother’s medical records.
Jasmine was seen by the GP and mother described Jasmine’s low mood, crying and
poor sleep. Both explained the stresses involved with the allegations. The GP did not
corroborate this information with Children’s Social Care. In response the CCG have
organised specific training sessions for G. P’s to share the learning.
Finding 6: Some warm, responsive, or challenging parents have the capacity to disarm
professionals and deflect their concerns. In this case, professionals who knew mother and P did
not have opportunities to reflect and explore what interventions were working well and what
professional barriers, including their own feelings, could impact on their judgment.
Mother was described by practitioners as overly familiar, intense, articulate; she had a
knowledge of safeguarding and a professional role. Practitioners reflected this may have
made it difficult to challenge her, for example there was little evidence of challenge when
she cast doubt on Jasmine’s disclosure of abuse by P and went on holiday with him.
Practitioner Briefings and online sessions to share the learning have highlighted the need
to be aware of the possibility of elements of disguised compliance in the responses of
some parents/carers.

Page 79

Finding 7: Jasmine’s allegation against P was taken seriously, discussed with agency partners
and actions taken in line with child protection procedures. However, Jasmine’s retraction of her
allegation and the response to it was not discussed by agency partners and was not subject to
the same degree of scrutiny. This allowed a single agency view to prevail without debate. There
is evidence to suggest that some professionals in North Tyneside would benefit from an improved
understanding of why children retract statements of sexual abuse and how they can best be
supported when they do so.
The Review found that Jasmine’s allegation against P was taken seriously, discussed with
agency partners and actions taken in line with child protection procedures. However,
Jasmine’s retraction of her allegation and the response to it was not discussed with agency
partners and was not subject to the same degree of scrutiny. Her refusal to cooperate and
the letter she sent stating she had made up the abuse did not spark healthy skepticism and
was not sufficiently explored with her. The important role of trusted relationships with
vulnerable children and young people to enable them to talk about their experiences was
highlighted.
To support practitioners in this complex area of work the Safeguarding Partnership has
developed training which considers child sexual abuse from the child’s perspective and
includes why children may retract statements of sexual abuse and how they can be best
supported when they do so. Feedback in relation to the value and relevance of the training
has been excellent.

4.

Background Information
From September 2019, the new Multi-Agency Safeguarding Arrangements, came into
operation and are known as the North Tyneside Safeguarding Children Partnership. These
new arrangements have replaced the role of the Local Safeguarding Children Board. The
Safeguarding Partners are resolved to act on the learning and a detailed action plan is in
place which identifies achievable and measurable actions to act on the learning identified
in the Review.
The following documents have been used in the compilation of this report and may be
inspected at the offices of the author.
You can access a copy of the full SCR report here

5.

Appendices
None.

Page 80

Page 81

School Clothing
Children, Education and Skills Committee
Agenda Item 8

‘My oldest daughter, they sent her

Page 82

home and said she wasn’t allowed
to come back until she had the
correct shoes. So then I had to
write a letter to say that we’ll be
able to get some in a week or so, I
didn’t have any money’
The Wrong Blazer 2020

Education (Guidance about costs of school uniforms) Bill received
Royal Assent April 2021

Guidance will be published in the autumn which schools must
consider when developing uniform policies

Page 83

National
Picture

Parents with children in state schools spend on average £337 per
year (secondary)/£315 (primary)

Costs are 3 times more than what families believe are reasonable
£105/£85 according to The Children’s Society (2020)
https://www.childrenssociety.org.uk/information/professionals/reso
urces/the-wrong-blazer

Page 84

North
Tyneside.
The story so
far….

7025 children on
income related free
school meals

School Appropriate
Clothing chosen as a
priority for the Poverty
Invention Fund

£45 issued to each
child

Funding

Page 85

School
clothing
project
Phase 2

• Funding carried over from
phase 1 of the project to
support families not on FSM’s

Wider support
• Looking at other ways in
which we can support families

Working relationship with Community
School Clothing Scheme (CSCS)
8k stock of school clothing
Page 86

Working with
the VCS

Referral system through schools
Lessons learned

Poverty Proofing the
School Day
Page 87

What else we
are doing to
address
inequalities

Recruitment of a
Social inclusion
Manager

Page 88

Good news
from our
schools!

Greenfields Community Primary are
changing their uniform so that families
can buy generic items from supermarkets
and then just purchase a logo from the
school to attach. The badge only costs £1
A lot of our schools have got their own
uniform clothing schemes or have a
collection bin from CSCS

Agenda Item 9
Meeting: Children, Education and Skills Sub-Committee
Date: 8 July 2021
Title: Work Programme 2021/2022

Author:

Maria Parkinson

Service:

Law and Governance

Tel: 643 5030

Wards affected: All

1.

Purpose of Report

1.1

The purpose of this report is to enable the sub-committee to consider the formulation of
its work programme 2021/2022.

2.

Recommendations

2.1

The sub-committee is recommended to formulate and agree a work programme for
2021/2022 and identify any further topics relevant to the remit of the sub-committee that
could be included in the work programme.

3.

Details

3.1

The sub-committee are invited to give consideration to determining its work programme
for the year ahead. In doing so members may wish to take into account the following
factors.

3.2

The sub-committee is one of a number of overview and scrutiny sub-committees. The
role of overview and scrutiny is described in the Council’s Constitution as follows:
“Overview, Scrutiny and Policy Development involves councillors of all political parties, as
leaders of their communities, examining the delivery of services and influencing decision
makers to ensure that they meet the needs, and improve the lives, of people in North
Tyneside.
It does this by:
a) reviewing and challenging the impact of decisions and actions taken by the Elected
Mayor, Cabinet and partner organisations;
b) carrying out investigations into services and policy areas of interest and concern to
communities in North Tyneside;
c) involving communities in its work and reflecting their views and concerns; and
d) supporting and assisting the Elected Mayor, Cabinet and partner organisations in the
formulation of their future plans, strategies and their decision making by making
evidence based recommendations to them on how services can be improved.”

Page 89

3.3

The Children, Education and Skills Sub-Committee has responsibility to perform these
roles in relation to the following areas:
 Schools
 Adult Education
 Work Based Learning
 14-19 Skills
 Safeguarding
 Child Protection
 Early Years
 Children’s Centres
 Youth Offending
 Preventative Services
 Substance Misuse Services
 Looked After Children
 Youth Services and Play
 Connexions
 Children’s Health and Wellbeing
 Vocational Learning

3.4

To ensure that the work programme is effective it is suggested that when evaluating
topics for inclusion in the work programme the following criteria should be considered:
 Is it timely?
 Will it duplicate any other work ongoing within the Council or the North of Tyne
Combined Authority scrutiny work programme?
 Will it add value/contribute to policy development?

3.5

The sub-committee has the option of establishing sub-groups (of around
4/5 members) to carry out in-depth investigations. The sub-groups operate in a more
informal way and can consult with a wide range of witnesses in various settings, often
over a shorter period of time. When dealing with a specific topic, this focused way of
working is often more productive than trying to achieve the same in a formal committee
setting. Whilst more than one topic can be prioritised across the municipal year, only one
sub-group can be established at any one time due to resourcing restraints.

3.6

A proposed outline work programme for 2021-2022 is attached. Members of the subcommittee are invited to raise any others topics relevant to the remit of the subcommittee that they think should be included in the work programme. Additional topics
raised will be scheduled accordingly in consultation with the Chair and the Deputy Chair.

4.

Appendices
Appendix 1 - Outline Children, Education and Skills Sub-Committee work programme
2021/2022

5.

Background Information
The following documents have been used in the compilation of this report and may be
inspected at the offices of the author:
- Children, Education and Skills Sub-Committee minutes and work programme
2019/20

Page 90

Appendix 1
Children, Education and Skills Sub Committee – Outline Work Programme 2021-2022
Required

-

Exploitation of Children Update – twice per year

Proposed

-

Review of children’s wellbeing following pandemic. Can we develop a holistic
measure including educational development/attainment that will inform design,
development and delivery of services, again person-centred? And to identify some
priorities to act on immediately? (September 2021)

-

Review of children’s wellbeing following pandemic. Can we develop a holistic
measure including physical and mental/psychological wellbeing etc, that will inform
design, development and delivery of services, again person-centred? And to identify
some priorities to act on immediately? (September 2021)

-

Children’s Readiness for School Response Report and Action Plan Update
(September 2021)

-

To provide a report since the last report in September 2020 on the extent of Local
Authority support available to schools in managing their response to COVID 19 and the
plethora of government guidance. (September 2021)

-

Support for Children with Special Needs and Disability in the Covid-19 Pandemic

-

Corporate Parenting in the Covid Pandemic

-

Children and Young People’s Mental Health

-

Update on Post 16 Education and Skills

-

Safeguarding Children and Young People

-

Mental Health and Early Years - to look at the ongoing support our young children may need
due to the pandemic, not only academic help but also mental health and early years development
for pre-school children.

-

What can we learn from the pandemic to support children and families going forward

-

Educational Attainment of pupils

Page 91

This page is intentionally left blank

